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IRTROIUCTICHN

This liet of sites and monuments in the parish of Deerniess, which is almost
sntirely the work of Kenneth A Stssdsan, hac bean edited by Norman Esery and
Christopher D Morrle, to bring it br sadly into line with the layout of the

st produced for Sanday and Xorth Fonaldsay by -Ix Baymond lamb, Archasology
Offioer of the Orknay Heritage Society (lamb 1380), It originated as part of
an independent piece of work by Mr Steedman, forming a dissertation for the
degree of B A with Honours in Archasology at Durhaa University, supsrvised

by C D Morris. The fleldwork was undertaksn in 1979, and the study presented
in 1960, Copies of the dissertaticn are lodged with the Mational Monumsnts ‘
Tecord for Scotland, and with the Archasology Cffiocer for the Orknay Neritage
Soolety. Ultimately, this saterial will form part «f the publication of the
Oriknsy Survey by Or lLaadb and, therefore, widsr discusaion of the material is
not undartaken here, btut left to that publication. The original musber
sequencs is retained here, and sites listsd in this sequsnce, rathar thin by type
of sooument (see Illus 59, 2: K13), Surveys and sketoh plams of particular
sonusents (uo.ll«‘!. 7, 42, 43, ) ware undsrtaken and are reproduced ia the
original disssrtations they are not reproducsd here. kqually, drawimgs of
artifacts are not iscludsd here. Photographs of aome sites are in the arigiml
disssrtation,
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CATALOGUx GF SITES

L,

50

Mirkady. Erocded site. HY 5382 0705

.Morth-facing ccastal seotlon which appoars to have erodsd I0 m since

0 S 1125000 ‘survey of 1956, Visible in the ssction ie middsn matsrial
and stons of an almost totally erodsd sits, From the eroded midden
was extracted a right scapula of a sheap or goat, coaprising nack and
distal blade end part of thoracio margin,

Swarta Geo. Eroded sits, HY 5554 080l
On the east alde of Swarta Geo, erod: 7 slte with stooswurk viaible
through the turf.

Dennick. Couvenanters Graves. HY 5708 0872
Kettlewsll Monument with graves of Convenanters reputsdly capiured at
Bothwell Bridge and drosned at Scarva Taing whils being transported.
Thres graves smarksed by small fiat stones,

OSHY 5 A, no 1.

Depwick. Grave? HY 5727 088l

Fast of Scarva Talng near he cliff edge. Two small slabs on edgs with a
horizontal stons, possibly representing a grave. Unocertain whather it is
associated with Convenanters graves.

Demrick. Caimm. HY 5749 0864
Earth and stome cairn on west bank of Wast Butn of Denwick, 10 m B3,
8 a W and 0.6 m high, Dug into in ssvural places. Two vertical stomes
interpreted as probable oist,

O3 NY 5 M, a0 2,
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Mull Head, Yrobtabls Farth house, and hut oirole or caim,
HY 5940 0969 and HY 5936 0951
Ssall oairn interpreted by O S in I9%4 as posaible earth housse, though
it appears to be no moe than a proeinent cairn? for navigation,
O S HY 50 ¥&, no 15.
Dubious hut oircle or caimm.
O S HY 50 ME, no 16.

H 14 . Mound , HY 5930 0930
Roughly circular mound ¢ 5 = dissster, “Howan" indicates the pressnce of

a nound; sescond element untraceabls.

Brough of Desrmess, Chapel and bulldings. HY 53&0 0873

Paninzula site originally joined to the Mainland, now acosssible anly by
atesD Cliff path, Gaal) stons chapel within & rectangular yard marksd by
a low stone wall., The chapel is surroundsd by at least 30 tuildings,
noatly rectangular, aligned both k=¥, and ¥=3, with indlcations of a
dividing track, South of the chapel are a nuabsr of dspresaions, one of
shich is u wall, Around tha southerm edge ¢ the cliff is s dry stoue
breastwork with remains of an entranceway. Ses report balow on survey and
sxcavation., The aite is in the care of the Secretary of State far
Scotland. ’

OBSKY 50, no 4y RC ANNOLOUS, IT no 62 ¢ LowllPe 554
Anderson 188, 101-4; Tudor 1883, 278-9; MacGibbon and Roas 1696,
1013 MPBWIN?, 35 lawd 197,934, 19%; Roszis 1976, 1977,
1978 a,b.
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9. largs Burra Geo, Boat noust, HY 5047 0871
Saall boal noust S m by 3 m, partially scoopad out of the slope ard
completed with dry-stone walls.

10. Kamj Geo, Barthuorks/ ? Boat noust. HY 5922 0752
Saall group of earthworks, inocluding a bank 0.5 m high, 45 m lcag and 1-2 m
wide, aligned roughiy north-south and of rough sarth and atons constructiaa.
10 n west of the bank is a thres sided bulilding, turf covered, with aidas
2.5, 5.0 and 7.5 m long. Illus &0,

1i. Stack of Moystag., 7 tullding. HY 5526 0743
Inaccessibls stack site with indications of a 1ow olrcular mound ¢ 10 =

diamster and about 0,6 m high. Lamb discounts the interpretation as a
troch, quoting a site of simiiar appsarance at Dinnacalr, Kircardipdshire,
which produced a Pictish symbol stons. The altermative interpretation
Telates it to the Brough of [sernsss as a dspendant hermitage. The stack
may well have been connscted with the mainland at Biggan of Kami (no 12),
The nams Houstag probably represents the ‘stack of gulls'. Illus 60,
OSHY 50 ME, no 203 RC A H M S 1946, 1II, no 628;

laab 197%a,83; lamd 1976, 147, 1%,

12, Alggan of Kaai, Mound, with major structumss. HY 5918 0P
The mame probably derives from O N hryggp, & ridge, and either O Naghr,
or Gaslic cpmug, msaning twisted or bent. MNound ca a protrudiag area of
land, compossd of stone, in vhich the R C A N N 8 noted a ruined stair, not
now visible, The R C AN M S and 0 B deacribe the sits as & broch, whilse
Lanh relates it to fsatland blookhouss forts; howswer, the site may be
a complex of structures, There are traces &f "outbtuildinge” arcusd the sits,
though less to the west, Duriag fisidwork a leag bese shaft of aa
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14,

15.

unidentified large animal was recoversd. FRecenl excavatiocas have beesn
undertaken here by Xr P S Gelling. I11llus 60 .

O S HY 50 M&, no 20; RC A H M S 1946, II, no G28.

4

Lamb 1976, 147.
Sqndside. Eroded aite. HY 5914 0698
Collapasd Wullding debris, not datesabls, though sums stonss may have been
part of a harring procesaing factory., The houss of Sandaide, ruloed in the F
18th Century may have had cutiusss at this site. 1
buring floldwork an cx~right femur wan recovered, It comprised the
iatrro~distal fragment of the shaft with fosia,
Low, ¥ £79, p 53, BC A H H 6 1346, II, no 623; J Foubister, pers coas,

- Stove, Mound. HY sE64 0706
(n the west sids of a sanll drain below Upper Stove Famm, Mound ¢ 12 »
diamster, 1 m high, partly cut by drain, Fabric of the mound is reddish
¢lay soll with staopas,
Illus 61,
Upper Stove. Mounds, HY 5852 0728
Thrve mounds near the top of the slops below Upper Stove Farm,
25aF=¥, 20 m ¥=3, 2 m high. Raported bty the farser as being difficult
to plough dus to stons. Illus 61,
Upper S . HKound , Wi SB46 0726
Seall nound 13 & dlameter, 1.5 » bigh., Illus 61 . Iy
Lpper Stove. Wound., - XY 5639 0726

low sound 10 » dlanyter, 1 a high. Illus 61 ,
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18. Upper Stave, Mound. HY 5820 0730
200 m ¥ of Upper Stove Farm., Hound 35 m M-S, 20 a E=W, 1.5 m high.

Probably affectsd by ploughing, Illus6l,

19. UEEI‘ Stove., Kound. . HY 58‘03 m
0.5 km ¥ of Upper Stove Fara, on the bordsr of an extansive marsh in a

low vallsy. HMound 9 m by 14 m, aligned M-S, 2 m high containing dark

fi'. peaty earth and stons,
LA
Ty
A
’ IGa. Nether Stove, Stone heap with socket stone. HY 5815 0590

Socket stons found on a atone heap at NMethar Stove Farm. 150 ma x 145 x 45 mmy
sads from a alngle gplit atooe wlth circular depresuian ground in it, 50 mam

disnster x 20 sm deep. Lkept by farmer.

20, HKillfleld. Mound . HY SP43 0704
Mound 250 m sast of the deserted oraft of Milifleld, 9 m diameter,
0.6 m high.

COH 50Ms nolqRC AHMS 1946, 11,66).

Wound, site of, said to have yleldsd stons implements. Now yder |
\

Wo

OSHY 50, no 4y RC AH M S 194, 1I, no 653.

22, The ¥ard. Burnt Mound. HY 5689 0739 |
Mousd of burnt earth and stcnes, 87 m above sea level, 23 8 i-W,1 4 a N8, ‘
2 m high, Exteasively dug into by Secomd World War army buildings and
0 8 trissgulatica pillar. "The Ward” recalls a systea of waming fire beacome
and rellying polats organissd Wy the Nowes Earls which contimued to U
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23.

2k,

25o

26.

15th century. Illus 62,
OSNY S0 no?7) RCAHNS 1946, I, 55

sntoft. Burnt Mound, HY 5691 0700
Illus 62,
Nr Greantoft, Burnt Mound., HY 5666 0698

Burnt sound, as 23, o 300 m east of CQresntaft Farm buildings, referred to
in the RC AHM 3 as being at Mlllfield. One is reported to have bsen
callad "Koffer Hows®., Both are ¢ 10 m x 7?7 m x 0.4 m. They had been
Ploughed when visited and fragmunts of burnt ttom.mroinwidanco.
Same implements are said to have coma from the site., Tllus 62,

OSHI SOME no 3) BC AH M S 1946, II, no 644,

Nr Greentoft. Burnt Mound. HY 5670 0682

Long mound SO m by 17 m and 2 m high, 200 a scuth-sast of Gresntoft Famm
and in sdjacent field to that contalning nos 23 and 24, Extensively
ploughed and farssr reports burning and reddansd stonss beling revealed..
Illus 62,

Mr Cunson, Lowsr Gritlsy, Deernsess, pers coma.

Gresntoft. ? Circular Structurs. HY 5667 0696
Farsar reparts that during ploughing a curved spread of stom foraing a
olrcls ¢ 20 a diameter is revealsd om a slight rise cut by a road. Mo
evidence of facing or ooursimg. Ooe of the stones has a dish-ehaped
ocavity carved imto it, while other stoneus geclagioally of differeat
types, 4o not cose from the immediats vicinity. The owrved feature ocute
through two flslds. The northermmost, imown as “The Blood Feld”, is
asseciated with a lagsad of & btattls "o ween Piots and Norseasn, The
interpretation may b revlated to Uy discovery of at lsast ams clst grave,
2 : All
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T Ty

and posaibly a cemetery. The cist was found in May 1859, Petrim reporting
it as 5' x 1'6" x 3'6" ard containing tno skelstons hearsd at each wnd.
Ilus 62,

The psrforatsd hammsr purchased by B M A S in 1568 found at "Bluody Quouy™,
Iesrneas, may have been found here (no> 57).

0 S HY 50 NT nos 6 and 25; A C A HH S 1946, II, no 662)

Fetrle notebook no 10, 4 in K H A 5 Hr Wark, Greentoft, [eerusss, pers comm.
Greentoft, Hound, HY 676 0717

Iamaped mound, ¢ £ m diaceter and 0.5 a high. A largor acund a3 remcved
in heather olearing operations in 1660, Fetrie describes the exploration
of a barrow near "wartiiill, Deerness™, in 18651, which is probably this
barrcw, Five cists were discovered. 1Illus 62,

FCAHHKSIMNG, 1T po 664y Fatrie misc papers in N M A S; Mr Work,

Gresntoft, Deerness, pers coam,

South Keligar, Farth house. WY 552 057

In ploughing a field along the north sids of the farm rcad in epring 1971
an earth houss was located. FRoughly oval in shape aligned approxisataly
St — Wi, 13' long and 4' wida, Interlor of the capped clmaber containet
blaok earth, clay and an upper layer of clay and stones. Nc chjects were
found.

A olocular bole surroundsd bty rough cobblss, full of soft black earth, and
oapped with & stone, found in same fisld, Two stones set sdge omto each
other in the ground, one matThed with a rough cross, were also found in the
fie1d4, When the farser, Mr Clcuston, cdug a bole to bury stoms from the

. earth houss excavation, ht located stone slabe set in a “V" shape. Betwesn

4 : Al2
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the stonss vas a red clay pack, whils cutalds was a scft black earth, °
0 S MY 50 nos 9, 11, 12, 13; Rendall 1934, 26-28,

29. inrmipe Point. doat Nousts. HY 437 068
HY $439 0642

150 m north-west of Hurnipe Point and ¢ 10 a froa the beach edge, & 9 m loog
and 3 m wide (int) boat noust, partly dug into the slope, with the
addition of a wall on the north. The base ia ocovered with rubble., A
sscond nouat €0 m avay, 7 m long x 2 m wide (int) and 6 m wids (ext) dug
¢ 0.5 m into the ground. Int beight 1 m, The [resence of slabs may
suggeat a flagged base.

30. fHumips Polnt. Boat nousts and bkaildings. HY 5546 06
WY S8 0635
T™wo boat nousts, One is rectangular, 9 m by 5 m with walling on three sides
and evidance of a flagged bace. 1 m to 1.5 m deep. The other noust,
3-uly.1.8-h16n.uit.hﬂidnmcofnll1uonlyatthoustcﬁd.
Bl'jM-B_OSBS. Katural mound on top of which are two bulldings 10 m by
11w, and 6 m by 6 m,

31. [Evep Hows. Broch, 0 5490 0511
kroch, grass oovered, 24 m diamster, J m high, with aovidence of mlling on
the morth sidse, On the west sids 1sa 1l n high scarp, During the RC AN N S

visit to the aits, a hammer sicoes and tooled stomsé wagre disoovered, now
ustisceable, A sohedulsd aite.
OGNy OW®RO g RC ANMNSINS, II no 624 NP B W 1967, 35,

R, Raaaisar. Koand ., XY 5301 0573
Low sound #00 a north-east of Brastuster Farm, Roughly rectangnlar 18 a by

156 8 Wy 1.5 8 high, ocomposed of black earth with lange mumber of steme chipe,
2 1 Al12




33. Braabuster. Mound, ? Chapel. HY 451 0SLh
Mound, damaged, 300 m south-west of Bruetuster Farmj 25 m i-¥, 17 m ¥=S,
1.7 m high with evidence of walling. This mound was a triangulatios polnt |
on the 1862 6" O S map, and Timothy Pont recorded "Rrasbuster” om kis

map of Orkmey, Lreebuster = O N breidi-bolsta¥r, troad farm settlssent,
with the fars arigimally an uricland. It is possibls that this moumd is

the siis of the wrisland chapel.
Rlasu 1654, vol S, 15lv; Marwick 1951, 113; Marwlck 195a, 76.

3. Brasbustsr. ¥ound. Y <82 093
Foughly circular, flat-topped sound, 350 m south of Brastuster Fare. 6 a
diametsr x 1.5 @ high., Stone kerd 0.5 m from thw tup, with a slab ca the
sound top which say represent a fragmeat of rocfimg.

35. Boachyster. . Boat Nousts. Y 567 04bo

I 591 048]

550 a sauth of Brasbuster Farm and 300 m east of Brasiusisr Kess, are six
boat pousts, The largest is 8 m and widths vary tetwsea J amd 4 »
internaliy. 4ll are scoopea into the ground, with upcast used to form the
sides. Thay are 1=2 m desp with the base 1 ®m above the preesat weach lewl.
MY S401 048], Secomd group of two mousts, 40 u to the east of the gremp of
six. They are ? aad 4 n loag and & » wide (int). The Mase level of Umw
nousts is also 1 » above beach level.

3%. Moves. Ura burials. NI 571 060
Thres tur. el were foumd im 1529 asd 153 war ils crest «f Bema Bleo, 2
matural soamd, The 1929 exaapls comprised a cist 0.7 x 041 x 0.95 a
des] sot into matural beulder clay and fleersd with thin elabe. The eist
mmmu.mdomugnmﬂ-r—ﬂ.-ﬁlm‘
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205 wm bigh and 154 sm wide, made of prodabls Shetland colomits steatite.
In 1933 two tmrials were found; ons contained a cinerary urm 380 aa high
310 = max width, 130 base diamster. It containad Twos, ashes, remains

of a emtller veamel, and a flat stone coversd the um mouth. Another
cavity contained a second urn, 1.5 mm axay, aloag wiih dark greasy material,
Jrobably husan resains covered ty a stone.

OSHY 50K n. 5t RC A HMS 1946, II no 6363 Marwick 1929, Grant 1933,
3H3=5.

Milihill. Demerted Crofe. HY 5759 0623
Deseriad craft of two bulldings, in one of which was a bench bullt against
awall, 1.5 x 0.35 m x 0.30 m high, of dry-rtone conatruction apparently

aftar coastrxction of the wall.

Skalill, Multi-period site. HY 588 065
Molti-pericd site around Skaill fars undsr excavation by Mr P 6 Gelling
(Pexrs cosm and forthcoming).
The earliest evidance is immsdiately south of farssr's bungalow, st
HY 5768 0638, The sarliest txo sub=circular enclosures ¢ 12 m disssisr in
tigure—of-eight plan, though sepamted oy paved path. Finds inocluded a
troacs kmife. Two uncorrectsd Cl4 dates are from the early 2nd oentury b c.
Roughly 220 m amay (HY 5870 0658), patheays, pits and stone settings were
fousd with barrel-shapsd flat-rimsed ware. This xas suooseied by & round
house of ¢ 15 m diasster, ussd for severanl csnturies and constantly
repaired, Two uncalibrated Ol4 dates of 70 bc + 100 and & d 190 + 110
received, Frobably im the late 5th ceatury a d the round houss was
abandonsd, and disturbed remains of rectangular siructures and paving
Tejavesat 2 later cooupation in the late 6th/early 7th century. Ao early
Nerwe bowss (KY 5061 0651) was constrwoted ocut of a pre-jlorse ane, though
the relatioaship is umclear,
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This first Norss bulilding was superceded by a structure over 21 m long.

Over the ysara it was reduced in sice. At a late stage, probably 1lth
century, it vas 7 m x & A in aize. Excavations in 1550=53 revealcd

maasive post-Norse stons bulldings with a 12th osntury square stans towsr

at HY 5534 OS54, A bons comb was found in 1961 at HY 5881 0652 by J R
Foublster. It was said to bhave gons to "an Edinburgh museua”, but is oot
now looated.

0 S HI 50 NE no 19y Cruden 1960; Wilsmon and Hurst 1961, 311t Wilson and Hurst
1965, 207 Wilson and Hurst 1956, 176; Webater and Charry 1672, 165=-70;
GCelling, foarthooming.

19, Skalll, Church and hogback; socket stons. HY 5886 0636

HY 5882 0636
12 m east of the preseat 1796 church stood a pre-Reforsatian church

dadicated to St Mary, Low in 1774 desoribed two steeplss, the right hand
atesple sntered from the quire, with a turnpike stair glving aoccess to a
saall vestry from which it wvas poasible to snter the other stespls. As
the church was considsred “saall, ruinous and irrepsrable” in 1789, the
new church sas bullt, when the foundations were being removed between
1870 and 1850, two coins of Edward 1 of England, ¢ 1280 a d were found
and presentsd to Kirkwall Museum in the 1930's (now lost),

HY 5882 0636, Hoghack, which ariginally stood in the north-sast cormer of
the churchyard, now soved into the church session-house. MWads of red
sandstons, 1.73 m long, 0.5 m and 0,35 a wids at the ends, and 0.2 and
0.20 m high at the enda, 8lightly arched ridge, with aides decorated with
four ross of tagulas; ends undecorated. Lang type B3, late lith/early
12th oentury.

Potrie records a socket stome “found im a sousd of stomes and rubblsh ssar
the ohurch of Dsernese”., It was 8* (200 mm) dianeter of sandstons, with a

oup-shaped depresaion cut into its upger surface, 44 (110 sm) dlaseter
2 B3



41,

42,

and 2* (50 mm) deep.
Dosated to MW N A S bty Petrle (not in Catalogus, Soc Ant Scot 1£92),
0 S HY 50 NE no 18) Soo Antiq 3cot 1866, 42, no 43 Scott 1871, V,387

Spence, 1903y Clouaton, 1927, 13; RC A H M 3 1945, II, no 622; lang 1974,232.

Tha Howan. Site of Mound. HY 5889 0633
Graas-covered mound interpreted bty RC A H M 5 as a broch, with evidarce

of middsn material, A haaser-stons and pottery wers recoverod., Trial
excavation in 1670's revsaled probable Bronse Age ard-marks undsr ths sand
mound. The mound is now largley removed, though traces of middsn are vislble
pear the besxch.

OSHY SOKc po 21y RC AH K S 1946, II no 629; Lamb pers coma.

uoy Nevi. Mound. HY 5865 0590
200 m north-west of Cutpool Farm and 100 a froa the coastal feature known as
Cornquoy NKevi is a mound 30 m by 16 m by 1-2 m, While ploughing, the farmer
discoversd a vertical estons 6' x 2' x 1', now used as a culvert bridge.
Burmnt stonas are still uncovered during ploughing.
Mr Foubister, Gridigarth, Desrnass, pers coaa,

“The Howie™. Buildings. HY 5885 0550

150 a south=east of Roanabay Castle is a mound 24 m E=¥, 23 m M8, lel, 5w
high, known as "The Howie" or "Howan Gresnie®, R C A H K 3 deacribe results
of excavation at the begimming of the 20th century on the south aide of the
aound whioch revealsd two "passages”. Thess probably relats to a lower
level of cooupation overlain by a large rectangular building 6 m wids, lia
long, posaidly of Late Morse date. The site is soheduled,

OSHY SOME no22) RC AH NS 1946, 1I, no 650; M P B W 1967, 2.




43, Quoys. Site of Bulldings. HY 5729 0497
HY 5728 0499

In Juns 1974 a cottage 10 m x 6 m war demolished., It coaprissd a main

rooa with four box beds, and kitchen annex at a lower level, to the sast,
The bullding had no proper foundatiuns, the walls resting on horisontal
slaba, DBelow the north wall, and a layer c¢f soil, was an earlier wall.
Under tho floor levels were found ans compased of cobbles, the other of
olay. un the cobbled floor were rotted beams and ssawessd thatch., Shell
alddens were found, but it is unoclsar which floor they were associated with.
From the olearance work, thres spindle whorls (two dscorated), a long
whatstons, red sandstons net sinksr, steatlts pouring spout, dscorated

lead fishing weight, parforatea bone disc from a large sea mammal, and a plece
of steatite wers faud (now in Tankernsss House Mussum, Kirkuall, nos

1979, 221, 222, 223, 225, 229, 227, 225, 230). All could be Narse.

A ciroular quern-stons was found, but now lcat,

HY 5728 0499, 30 m to the northewsst, a circular base ? of & cormn=-dying
kiln was found around 1960 during construction of & farm building, A

coin of unknosn date was found in the foundations of the base.

amon 1979,

A gold Mureaberg 'Jetton' cf the late 16th oentur, was found on the farm and
presented to Tankerness Houss Museun (no 19793 231). Anea 1979.

b, lowsr Gritley.  Burnt Moundm and % building. HY 5658 O
HY 5660 o443
BY 5661 0441
KY 5663 0442
420 m to the southesast of Lower Gritley Farm is a group of bumt mounds,
danaged Wy ploughing. lO‘AHleardnﬂﬂortlxiuthaij'l.but
they were ploughed in the 1950's and aow only four are visidle, All revealsd

nt stons when ploughed.
2 : B4
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47,

HY 5601 0444y, A few me‘res to the north-east of the mounds is a stony arsa,
ccnoslvably the aite of a bullding associated with mounds.
OSHY SOSE w2t RC AH M S 194, II, no 645; Mr Eunson, Lower Gritlsy,

[eornans, DOID Claa.

Stonehall, Mound. HY 5538 0346

Mound ¢ 20 m diameter, 400 m south-west of Stonshall Farm, site of the
original croft known as "Sandy Aitkin's“. The old tunship of Sanday, knosn
from 1630 as Sandskin, Sandyaiken. Sandaltken, probably arcse froa the
the family nams Akin, Alken, Altken, known to have possassed nsarly all the
tunship land from an early date.

Marwick 1952a,79.

Mussaguoy. Burnt Hound, HY 5659 0369

Burnt mound 12 m x 10 m x 1.2 u, 350 m east=south-east of Hussaquoy Farm,
Mr J Foubiater of Kussaquoy quarried into it ¢ 50 ysars ago, on the west
side, and - vealed several iLarge stonss, including two 0.,) = high, 1.7 na
apart,

OSHY 50 SE no 1§ RC A H M S 194, II, no 64.

Lithle Cotipge. Kound. HY 5708 Ov48
At the rear of Littis Cottage = mud c25Aax 158 x 2 n, May be dune sand.
ek, Erodsd middens and buildings, HY 5745 0415

Traces of bulldings and middan visible in erodsd section over a length of
6570 m, 80 & behind Yewark Farm. Asongst the erodsd material is a cemetery
with chapel (no 49).

2t BN
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Hewatk. Fortified houme; chapel and cemtsry; HY S7H6 0413

sarth houses.
Human bone has been found in the sea-srodsd bank sinoe 1930 at lsaat, closs
1o a chapel veferred to in Timothy Foat's map of Orknsy 4in Blasu‘'s 1554 Atlas
as "Hus work of Desrnsas”. GSite excavatad by Dr D Brothwsll, London
University, Institutes of Archaeology. Several skeletons were assoclated
with ths small chapel dated to the 10th cantury on coin-evidsnce froa below
the floor. Over the cemstery and chapel was & 15th or 17th century fortified
house, Two earth housac were found below the chapel and cemstary, one of
which wvas 10 m long. HMaterial is still being eroded. During the floldwérk
a nuaber of bones were recoveredi- large animal rib fragment, along with
human bone, probably from one ipndividual; left femur with both epiphysss
fused, distal vnd and most of the shaft of a lsft tibia, with diotal end
fused; proximal fragment of the left tibia with epiphysis fused but visible;
thres fragments of a coaplete right tibia with epliiyses fused; distal end
of a left radius; fragment of cranial vault ? Juvenlile; proximal end of & lsf.
satatarsus 1I; 4 rid shaft fragments; complete left matatarsus Iy complets.
sstacarpus III and IVy; shaft fragment of radiuss coaplets laft calcansumg
ooaplets right calcansum; two pleces of rib shaft; ? scapula fragment, and
unidentified hons fragment.
Blasu W54, vol 5, 151vy O S HY 50 &8 no 3;
RC AHMS 194, II, no 654 Brothwell 1977, 182,

Backlwnd, Broch. HY 5770 0401
*Nowie o' Baokland”, mound 40 m diamter, ¢ 3 m high, Trial trench by
Dr D Brothwell revealed it to be a broch, with walls 0.3 m high, "“Quoyburieg”,
s quoy in the Skas tunship of Dserness in 1595 probably refers to the aite,
and also it appears in recards as Boorin, lxrrm.in’Olm;
fortifisd structure,

Marwick 19528 78; Mrothwell, pars coma,
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Sl. Ayre. Eroded ¥idden, HY 5852 Q384
Sea-eroded midden 500 m sonth of Barne of Ayre, containing burnt sarth,
shell and pottery over & 23 m long stretch. Several ahards of mediasval
hand-made pottery donated by Dr D Brothwsll to N M A S in 1969/1970
presumably came from hare,

The mediaeval pottery fragments houmed in N M A Sy

HH 1303. Body sherd and base fragment, sandy pink-buff ware, black
interior, ext-grass-marked, thumb impresaions above basal
angle, Est diameter 50 mm,

HR 1704, Base sherd, blmck . -, red/brown int, grass tempered,

HR 1305, TwWwo caall rim sherds, sandy-}lnk ware, grey int, square
sectioned rim,

HE 1306, 13 saall body she:xds, grass-marked, similar ware but from
saveral pots.

luring fieidwork, a body sherd with remains of a base in thiak orange/red,

grais-tempered pottery was found. 40 ma x 28 ma x 5 ma, black interior.

Sec Antlq Scot 1970, 296, nc 18,

2. Ayre. Buildings, HY 5857 0384
TWwo bulldings on top of a bank which linss the beach., The westermmost ia
5max 5mx 0,3 m oovered by grasa, the othar building 1s 6 m x 4,5 & with
stonss visible particularly on the east side.

53. Darms of Aype. Hound , HY 5698 0%27
45O m east of Barns of Ayre Farm is a acund 20 m ¥-3 x 14 a B=¥ x 1.5 & high,
Soms stons in and on the mound,

sh, Rerms of Ayre, Earth banks, HY $912 oLOB
600m sastesouth-sast of Barns of Ayre Farm is a small group of looal earth

banks ¥ for drainage or la-d partitioning,
2 : B?7



55.

56.

Doint of dvre.  Mound. HY 5306 0394
Kound ¢ 8 m ¢lameter, 1 m high, on the chore and partly erodsd, stone

vieibls on the east aldo and through ths turf.

ISOLATED AND UNFROVENANCED FINLGS

Poupd "in coyrse of diz~'ng in the ruinm of &n old ouse in trs rarish of
Deerness, Orkney™. Donated by J Farrar and row in N M A 3,

GG L. Hammsrstone pounder 130 mm x 60 ma x 30 ma both ends worn, ons end
chipped.

GG 2. Hammerstons pounder fragment, 90 x 55 x 25 ma chipped.

GG 3 and 4.Two stone talls, not traceabls,

GG 5. FPerforated sandstons 130 mm diamstar, 50 mm thick, hoilowed on both
sides with saall hole through.

GG 6. Flat plece .f whalebone, 345 x 60 x 10 mm. Two clear holes and ?
s. third, with marks of cutting on sides.

CC 7 and 8. Fragsents of dser horn ons 110 ma long, the other 60 ma long.
Clear marks of cutting.

GG 9. Booe comb 95 ma x 40 ma, Double sides, straight ends, ring and dot
dscoration. Incomplets. Two irop rivets remaining.

CC 10, Boar's tusk, not traceabls. |

GG 11, Spindle wharl 40 mm diamster, 40 ma thick. Hole O ma diameter.
fed olay, oval section.,

GG 12, Rim sherd 60 x 53 x 7 mm. Fxt reddish browm, int grey.

G0 13, Rim sherd 50 x 53 x 7 sa, Orangs fabric.

QG 14, Dody sherd, 60 x 53 x 7 ma, Int grey, ext reddish brown. ? same

as QG 12,




15, Rim sherd 558 x 58 x 13 ma, Black,hsavily burnt int. Luapy fabric.
15. Rim aherd 65 x 73 x 11 ma, Grey int, red burnt ext.

17. Fim shard 70 x 60 x 8 ma, Grey int, red ext, gritty fatric.

18, Not trmasadls (pottery).

13. FRim sherd, 42 x 57 x 6 ma., Black and grey gritiy fabric,

20, 21, HNot traceabls (pottery).

22, FRim sherd, 46 x 33 x 7 mm, Red/orange gritty fabric.

23. FRim sherd, "4 x 47 x  ma, Grey int, red bumrmt ext.

g 8 8§ 8§ 8 8 8 8 8

24, Boiy sherd, 90 x 70 x £ mm, DBlack and grey gritty.

25, EBody aherd, 53 « 40 x 8 ma, CUrangs red, rough fabric.
GG 26. Body sherd, 78 x 62 x 15 mm. Grey/pink, thick, slight markirgs on

8

exterior.

GG 27. Body mherd, 40 x 3% x 6 ma, Pink/orangs/brown fabric.

GG 28, Body aherd, 50 x 35 x 5 am, Black gritty fabric, red surfaces, slight
lines on ext,

GG 29, 30. Not traceabls (pottery).

GG 31, Rim sherd, 30 x 30 x 30 mm, Khaki ext, black int, lumpy fabrie.

G2 32, Fhim sherd, 43 x 23 x 6 ma, C(range gritty fabric.

GG 33. Rim sherd, 33 x 27 x 6 ma. Pink/orangs gritty fabric,

Soo Antig Scot 1866, U42p Soc Antig Secot 1892, 236.

Bloody Quoy.
AR 89, Hasmerstons, 120 x 50 x 32 ma, perforatad 20 ma diasster hols.

Granitic polished oushion mace=head. Deposited in ¥ M A 8,
So¢ Matiq Scot 1889, 16, no 22; Soc Antig Scot 1_892. 45,

IeITeAS -
K 157. 8pindle whorl, 45 mm dismeter, 12 ma thick, 1) sa diamster hols.
hed clay. Dot and line decoration T with letter M.

21 B9
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AX 137. Hammsrstone, 15 mm long, 65 mm wide, 4 mx tiaick, with one end
particularly damaged.

Depositsd in X M A S in 1887 from a broch.

Soc Antiy Scot 1392, 49, 6O.

Deermess,
AD 128, AC 2/6-7, Elongated stone implements donated to ¥ M A S in 1857-87,
Soo Aatlq Scot 692, 10, 12.

Pomgibly from “Bradister™.

Ad 4B, Sockst stone of red sandstone dsposited with W M A S.

Soc Autiq Scot 1889, 16, no 22; Soo Antlq Secot 1892, 70.

Iearnens,

Ad 28,29, Socket stonss, sandstons bouldsrs with hollows an thelr flat sides.
Donated to N M A S by G Petrle in 1377.

Soc Antiq Scot 1Bg2, 63.

Iemass. _

Gbjects found in a broch in Deernsss in 1943,

GA 1177, DBody sherd, 58 x 52 x 9 mm, light grey bruwn gritty fabric.
Soratched line dacoration om ext.

QA 1178, Body sherd, 63 x 48 x 12 mm, orangs-brown fabric, soratched line
decoration ext and int.

CA 1179, Body sherd, 48 x 40 x 7 mm, orange-brown, burnt, with scratched
lins decoratiom ext and int,

GA 1180, Body sherd, 46 x 44 x 6 sa, orange~trown scratched line decorstion
on ext,




63.

65,

65.

GA 1181, Body sherd, 90 x 73 x G mm, coarss grey-htrown fabric, ext partly
rumt, lice decoration on int.

GA 1182, Body oherd, 48 x 34 x 7 mm, orangs-brown fahric, V-dscorstion
on ext, scratchsd on int.

Fressanted to N N A S by Captain L L £ Koreton.

Soo Antlq Scot 1946, 152.

Deerrionn,

Urn, 330 ma high, 300 ma at neck, found in the centre of a short cist in a
acund in Desrneas Parish. It was Jound to tw three—quarters full of bones
and ashas, Alxo a stome Implemsnt,

Callander 1933, 346-7.

D:ag}gg_g.
Flint arrowheads found in 1800=-1920 in an area centred an WY S9% 097 by
Mr W Bichan of Denwlck, eernsss. MNow loat.

0OS HY 50 X no 17.

Deerpens.

*E1f ArTowhsads pratty frequent here, tut most of them with the points
broken®,

Low 1879, 57.

Dyer Sound and Mirkgdy.
Daer antlsrs accasionally erodad from sneses on the shores.

Mr Woak, Creantoft, Deernsse, pers comm,

s
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AFPRLNLIX by C D Morrls

67. Desrness: on slope and supmit of 3 low hill® [wic].
"Ancient buildings®, stone vesssls sin'lar to those which are aften found
in the ‘troughs’ or ‘round towers'® gnd two barrows. Saveral cists with
burnt booe and two “rudely fashioned clay urns™ were ocutsids the clsts.
Coe seasured 17" deep, 12" wide at the mouth ard 6" at the bottoma. The
average thiciness of the clay vesssl was 5/8",
Goame od 1886, 303-L,
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THR SUBYEY-METHOD UTILISED AT THE 2BQUGH OF IEBRMLS3, 1977

L4

Fred Bettass

THE CHOICE OF SURVEY-METHOD

A survey was required which would establish ths existence and placing of a
re_atively large number of buildings and dspressions, and relate tham both to
the topography of the Brough itself and 4o the ruined chapel which was the subject
of excavation. The bulldings were repressntsd by very low, grass-coversd mounds
outlining the base of the walls: the chapel walls averaged about one setre in
height. In fixing the position of features of the type involved here, great
accuracy 1s not feaslble, for the centre lioe of a mound, for instance, cannot
be pinpointsd with precision. Also, at the soale of plotting, 11200, no langth
of und.r 5 cm is easily distinguishable, In view of this, it might have besn
tho'sht that a plane-tabls would be used, but in an ares subject to windy
conditions, an Oriney is, & plane~tabls can be s liability. 4As the tims
~vailable was restricted, and the field operations for tachscsstry can be
performed quickly, even with relatively unakilled operators, it was dacided to
use a self-reducing tachsometsr to establish the poaitions relative to two
survey stations,

Iacheometry
An is well known, conventional theodolites and levels have a systsa of crosas-sires

vhich incarporats two ehort horisontal lines, ome above, and cme below.the main

horiscatal cross=vwire, If a levelling ataff is held a0 that 16 is in a verticel

plane at right angles to the line of signt, readings can be taken against the

two short croas-wires, mwmumﬁwm.umpqum.

is the distance from the osatre of the instrumeat to the staff, As long as the

line of aight 18 kept horisemtal, this aystea is sinple and effective, Wt if
21: 03
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inclined sights are required the vertical angls must be msasured, and the
readings have to be corrected bty using a trigonamstricsl formula which is
complex and tedious to apply.

Ths introduction of self-reducing tachscasters has changed the situation. In
these instrumentis a mechanisa varies the distance between the two cross=wires in
relation to the angle of inclination so that the procedure dssaribed holds good,
Thus, if, for exampls, the readings against the cross-wires are 1.637 and 1.386,
the difference is 0.251, and a0 the trus horisontal distance froa staff to ocentre
of instrument 18 25,1 m, regardless of inclination. Howsver, there is a
limitiiug redius of operatian of about 200 a, as it becomes more difficult to get
an sgcursis Twsding as the distance to the staff gets larger. In additian to
the two staff readings, & bhorisontal angle-reading is also taken after the
alignaent of the instrument to some knosn direction, with the horisontal angle

st to sero,

GEXERAL PROCELJHE ADOPTED

Reconnaissancs of the aits showed that it was posasible t0 comsand all the area
to be surveyed from two instrumsnt stations, and two instruments were set up
over Degs 40 m apart, 'Ih_nalimnt-idatinbothuusmtothooturm.
vhich then gave the tase to which all subssqueat work oould be related. After
the placing of surveying arrows in all salisat poiats of & feature or growp of
features, and the production of a sketoh with mmbers referring to these points,
readings were taksn from the appropriate instrusent. For ease of plotting, the
distanoes and bearings were reduced om site to x and y rectaagular ce-crdinates,
by the uas of a small elsctronisc caloulator with trigonosstrio fumctions,
Thearetically, the aimple uss of a pretractor weuld have sufficed, wut, without
& veary large potractor, thsre can bs & oonsiderables loss of acouracy = quite
apart from its cusbersens sature, Aftar pletting, a visual oheck, sipplessatsd

by & fow linsar ssasursnsnts, was mads 40 elinimats ay poteidls exyormm, asd to
21 C4



snsure tha Work was accaptabls. The process of plotting on sits thus enmured

that the genaral picture could also be checksd for duplications and omlasicns.

The ruinsd chapel was a much better dafined objJect 10 curvey than the grass-
covered mounds, Measuremsnts had been muds during sxcavation and, hanoe, aimply
requited to be related to the main site-survey. Angular observations from sach
instrument were more appropriate than tacheometry, and these were made to the best
definsd corners of the standing masonry. Since the distaance bstween the two
instruments was known, a simpls trigonomstrical solutlon gave the x amd y
co=oTdinates, which were then plotted.

Although the use of tacheomstry for surveying had previously ocnly been experisnced
by the professional surveyor in the group, it was found that the instrument work
was soon mastered by archasologists, and a high rate of cutput achieved. Ths use

of two teams, as might be expected, mrie than doublsd the speed of cutput, and clearly

the biggest limitatiog in this work 4s the muabir of surveying arTows
available. About eighty were used in this survey, and not found to be excesaive.
In all, the operation took four days from arrival on 3ite to production of a
complate plan, including a survey of the edges of the peninmila. Bettsr weather,
and initisl familiarity with the mystea, would have reduced this, More dstail
vas picked up than had bean expectsd, and the msthod chosen seemed completely
justified, and osrtainly appropriate to some other situations,

- -
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FUBLISHED ACCOUKTS AND REFREERCES TO THE BFOUGH F EaRNESS

©. 1784, JOHN IF FORIUN (GGODALL ED. 1759, I, 47)

Under the list of Orcades Ipsulas, is includad an entry for :

"Borch de Dernes”,

7. 152%, "JO  BEN" (MACFARLANKE 1908, ITI, 307, 318)

Deacriptie  Insulorum Orehadiarum

In the northern part of that parigh therc 1e in the sea a natural
~ock where men ascend to the top on hande and knees with very great

difficulty. Them is a chapel there which is called (the Batrnes of burghae),

Hither out of varicus lslands men, youths, boys, old men, innumerable
servante flook togethsr) but having coms, with naked feei, as I formerly
sald, praylig they ascend, where nonc except one can coao to the chapel

at one time; Thare is the:» a fountzin pure and sparkling, which indeed

ts wonderfuls then the men with bended knees, and olasped bands,

itstrusting that there 1s a God supplicate (iho Dajrmes of Sruxhe) with

many lncantations, throwing stonss and water behind their baoks, and

walking twice or thrice round ths chapsl, Having finished their prayers thsy
return home affirming that they have performed their vows, Hare they do not
worship God purely.

We are indebted to Ir O T P K Dickinson, of the Impartment of Classics and
Anclent History, University of Durham, for checking this translation and
offering the following alternative, more literal translation of the marked
sections

... distrusting that there is a God pray to (the Bailrnes of Brughe) with
lﬂm:.tnution.l in this manner, throwing stooes ..,

It should be noted that doubts have been voioed about the date and the

latin text used in this edition and trarslation (Johnston 1908; MecDonald 1936),

<1 1.8
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C. 1608, TIWOTHY PONT (BLAEU 1654, VOL 5, 151V)

Orcadum et Schetlandias insularum accuratisgisg descriptio,
This map refera to "The Eairnes of Brugh®.
See Cash 1907, and Moir 1§73, 37-53.

1693, THE REV JAMES WALLATS (1883, 40=1)

Anclently, as they are yet in ma.i msanute, thay were much glven to
Supsrstition, as appsars by the many Chapels that are dispersed here and
there through the Countrey;But the Chapels to which most frequently they
aade thelr Pllgrimage, were to the Chapel of the Brough of Birsa, and to
the Chapel .0 the brough at the Mulehead in Deirness, these two Chapels

standing at the furthest extremities of the Mginland Fast and wWest, nor

to this hour are thess PiiCrimages omitted Ly the coamon Peopls who still
for the obtainine of some good or deprecating of somo evil, do frequant

séome Chapels that they have most Vensration for., Desidss they have this
genaral Custome, the day that ia dedicat to the Femary of the Saint who 1as
Fatrone of the chief Kirk (where Sermon is made) is ksept holy by the common
FPeope of the whols Parish, so that they will not work on that Dmy: And
thasse that Llive next the smaller Chapels do moreover kes) holy that Day

that 1s dedicated to the memory of that Saint, that, that Chapsl is
denoainate by.

1773, THE REV GEORGE LOW (MARMICK 1924, 52)

o+s Fapa Westrs famous for the superstitious regard paid by the
johabitants to St Tredwsls Chapel and loch-(Wallaos). This is not the
only Chapel to whioch supsrstition has affixed an extmordinary vensratiom;
mw1dm'wdm.mmtmmmudnumum
extreaities of the Mainland; the Chapel of Clet in Senda and seversl othars
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wers much sought to by the inhabitants in former times, especially when

under any misfortuns, dissase or any othar difficulty; they then vowed an -
alms to thess Chapels, and seldoam failed to pay in moaey or in Corn, and this t-_hoy
imagined would gain them the goodwill of the Suproms power, by this

oblation they would be freed frum their difficulties; but if the cure .

should not follow they tock care not to lose muchy for thae most part these
offerings were very trifling, a small pilece of monsy or a handful of comn,
they imagined would suffice! thess offerings were presented at particular
chapels only, probably thoss dedicated to the most reputable saints, and

whose mediztion they thus imagined they could procure: however thase
supsretitions are uow much wearing out, and are nractised only by a few of

the oldest, and the rost ignorant of the inhabltants some of whoa are

remarkably tenacious of thelr formsr Custoas,

1774, THE REV GCORGE LOW (LOW 1879, 556)

The Kul of Deerness is at about a mile's distance from ths Church, a
large peninsulated rock, the access very difficult; on the top is a saall
Chapei, to which, notwithstanding ths danger, even old age soraablad its
way thro' a road in many places not six inches broad, where certain death
sttended a sllp, but such was the forcs of superstition! Towards the land
this rock is fenosd with a very strong stons wall, and within many
foundations of small huts, whicn plainly demonstrats that this hrc served
xore purposes than that of religlon, which in ail probability has been but
the latest., Like that in Stroma ... it surely has been & rock fort, many
nore of which are obssrvable thro' thase isles, aad the huts have been for
shaiter both to man and goods in time of publick disturbaace, which of old
was far from being infrequent.



1797. "A FRIEND TO STATISTICAL ENQUIRIES". (0SA 1799, XX, 258, 269;
FEPRINTED IN CLOUSTUN 1927, 7-16 AMD Q34 1978, XIX, 201-212)

On the top of the Mull or Burgh of Deernsss, there is a amall chapel,
to which supsrstition has mads even old age scramble, through a path in many
Places scarce six inches broad, and there a singls false step led to certain
death. (p 9, Clouston 1527).

W P L Thomson (1978, xxix) suggests the author may have been The Rev

Jamsw Alismon,

1805, THZ FeV CRORGE BARHAY, 25

Near the very top of the Mull, (which signifies a promontory), and the
boundary of the mainland to ths north-sast, a chapsl had baen reared in the
dark ages, the access to which is equaily difficult and dangerour; and this
circumstance, psrhaps no less than other motives, might have coatinusd to
render 1t a place of devout pilgrimage, into which the paople tock great
delignt frequently to soramble, in ordar to perform their vows, and leave their
superstitious oblations., For soms time past they have begun 10 see the folly
of a practice 80 repugnant to ths spirit of rational religloa.

1867, SIR HENRY DRYIRN, (1570, 11-12, REPRINTRD IM MACGIABOM AND ROSS 18596,
101-5, WITH PIGS 68=71)

The brough is on the east coast of Dserness, and msasures oo the top
about 400 feet north and south by 240 fest east and west, It is
separated from the mainland on the south-west bty & narrow ravine or “gso®,
which is almcst wet at high water (Fig 68),

The brough is highest on the north, and at that part is about 90 or
100 feethigh, (Fig 69). The coast hersabouts is stsep and rocky. The use

of the word hypugh for a detached rock, whem go fo,t s placed on it, s not

infrequent.,- : 1
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Ths chapel (Fig 70) is nsar the centre of the brough, enclosed in a
yard 57 feet Ly 45 feet, of which only the foundation remains. Tha
antrance into this is not evidant. The chapel is a parallelogran,
2t fest 5 inches bty 17 fest U4 inches cutside., The west wall is 3 feet
¢ inches, and the others 3 feet 11 inches thick. Only about 4 feet 6 inchas
and 5 fest in height remain above ground. It stands nsarly trus east and west,
the west end faoing a littls south of west. It is buiit of clay alate froa
1 foot to J fest long, and 2 to 7 inches thick, now much covered with yellow
lichen, It has only one loorway (Fig 71), which is in the west end, and
apparently was anly 2 feet wids; but the west wall is irregular, and appears
to nave Leen altered and repaired. The upper part of the doorvay is gone,
but probably it was square hsaded, with a stons lintel. The jamba are not
eplayed, and have no rebats for a door, nor is there any bar tu:’ln.'l By
digging at the west doorvay it appeared probable that the floor insids was
about 6 fest below top of sill of east window, but the level is uncertain,
as the interlor is much covered with debris.

Appatently there was only one window, which is in the east end.
(See Fig 71). The top & gons, so that it is doubtful whether it was flat
or archad., Ons Jamb io gone and the ciher somewnat mutilated, but 1 foot
‘' inohes in haight of 1t resains, The window had a clear opening of 1 foot
3 inches, with Janba splayed inside, to 3 fest 6 inches in width, It appears
to have had ths outer 11 inches «f the janba parallel, and to have
contained glass. On a part of the east wall is built a beacon for the survey.

In the north wall, near east end, is an anbry 2 fest 4 inches wids, not
less than 2 feet & inches high (top is gone), amd 1 foot 11 inoches recesssd,

" See account of doorway in chapel on Brough of Mreay for notite of this point,

PITS e
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It has no traces of having had a door. Supposing the floor to have been 6 feet
below the sill of east window, probably the side walls were about 8 feet high,
and the points of the gables about 18 feet from floor. The roof was probably

of lerge slabs of stone along the eaves al above them, oither -f saaller

slabs or of “divota*, fastened down with "simsona™ as oo bousos.

The external langth is equal to the diagonal of the square of the width,

About 35 yards south of the chapel is a tank or well.

On the south edge of the trough are stanss which appear to have anoe
formed a wall, and at this point is the entranca froa the “"geo”".

Spread over the top of the brough are faundatiocns of at lsast 18 huta,
They are montly pamallelograms, of about 24 fest by 12 feet outsids, and the
walls 2 feet 6 Inches and J feet thick. Thess were for the use of davoteas
who used thie as a place of pllgrimage.

A swurvey of our coasts and lakss will show how strong a partiality
existed in esarly timss for sslecting as sites for churches and monastic
establishsents ssall {slsnds, isolated rocks, or promcntories diffioult of
access~for instance, the two St Kichasls sounts, Lindiafarm, Iona, Irelards
eys, Ininfallan, etc, Nor was *his taste for isolation peouliar to the
coasts, Ve find throughout Furope, and indsed in the Kast also, mumbers of
peaks difficult of aocess, bearing such buildings. The brough of Deernass and
the brough of Birsa are good examplse,

Planned 1866 [manusoript additieg

1648, J W W/EALET 114w5
Desxnsss .., has a .., chapel = the latter also /Tike Birsay/ a famous

pllgrisage, and tallt on the top of the steep promomtory callsd Moulhsad, on the

Brough of Deernsss, The poor rulns of this bulldimg, very saall, and
architecturally worthless, are still regardsd with venerstion) and, it in sald, are
even yot the ohject of pllgrimage, 2 ; ci1
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ILLUS 65 DRDES‘'C PLAR OF THE CHAPEL AND ENCLONUR
BIOUGH OF DeEmamSS (¢f NasOlbben & Beas 1996, Fig 70)
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1577, JOSFPH ANIERS, ICTK=C

There are the remains of a chapel cimilarly aituated /To that on the
Brough of Birsay/ on the Brough of Deerness, at the sast end " the Mainland.
e Brough of Jserness ls an outlying rock, nsarly 100 feet high, and ccvered
with gresn sward opn the top. Thae chapel stands oear the centre of the area,
and is surroundsd by a stone wall encloaing an area cf about 60 feet by 45,
re chapel, which is a saaller and ruder bullding thin that on the Brough of
giveay, 13 a simple parallslogyam of not more than 17 feet by 10 insids, the
walls being irom 3 to 4 feet thick. The doorvay is in the weat end, and there are
the vemalns of a window in the east end, but the heads of both are gons. A:mamd
the chapel tiwre are foundatlons of about & score of stopsebullt hurts
scattored irregularly over the area of the Brough. Thay are irregularly built,
with a tendency tosards the msctangular form, the walls being from 2§ to 3 feet
thick, Several of tham are nsarly as long as the church, ot rot so wids, tha
intenal area msasuring about 18 feet by 6. Low (1) states that in his timse,
notwithstanding the difficulty and danger of the sccess to thw Brough, “even
0ld age scrambled its way through a road in many places not aix inches broad,
where certain death vttendsd a slip,” Jo Ben, in 1529, mentlons that people af
nll classes and conditions were in the habit of climbing up to the top of the
Brough on their hands and knaes to visit the chapel callsd the "Raims of Brugh;”
ind when they had reachead tha top,” on their bendad knees and with hands jJoined
they offered their supplications with many incantations to the Baims of Brugh,
throwing atones and water behind their backs, and making the clircuit of tis chapel
twice or thilce.” There is atill a fine sprisg an the Brough, which doubtless had
the reputation of a “holy well” in connsction with thess supsrstitious practioss.
The Brough was fenoed with a stong stons wall tomard ihe land eife in Low's time, and
froa this and the resains of the huts be concludes tiat it had besn a rock fort
subsaquently convertsd into a sanctuary by the ecclosiastics,

(1) Low's Towr through Orkney and Zstland, MS, in the possession of Iavid laing, Eeq.
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1879. JOS=FH ANIERSCH (1881, 93-4 AND 101-4)

[In Scotland/, as in Ireland, it is cnly oa the saaller uninhabited and
inaccesslbls imlmias that we find such traces as we ars in ssarch of. Themse
lonly rocks wer not only the earllest cutposts of the Christian Church, but
“here the primitive structures were not supsrsaded by the grander constructions

of later tices ... I select three groups for pressntation as the most typicai.

ceo 1t must be borme in mind that the antiquity of the type is one thing,
and the sntiquity of tha spacimen is a totally differsnt thing. The type of |
thans structures may have ranged over four or five centuries, and without ths
apsistance of definits record or dated characteristiocs, 1t is impossaible to
say to xhich of these centuries sny of its specimens is to be assigned.

The third ... group of structures of this type which I bave to dascribe
{s that on the Brough of sernass (Fig 40)®, It ia situated on a small
island lying closs to the cliffs which rise to form the magnificant promontory
of Deerness of Orknsy. The islet is scossaible from the land by descending
a precipitous pathuay in the sids of the oliff, orvsaing the narrow channel
fi1led with boulders which is dry at low tide, and clambering up a rocky
footpath which lsads to the sumait of the Brough. The area on the top is
level, and coversd with grass, It measures 400 fest by 240 feet, and is from
¢y to 100 fest above the lsvel of the sea {1). Near the ceatre of the area

" = [reproduction of Dryden's overall plag/

(1) These meamiresents are mostly taken froa Sir Henry Irydsn's plans and
desariptions of Ruined Churches in Orkney and Shetland, ooples of which
are deposited in the Librury of the Soclety. The dascriptive notes were
published in the in 1967, I am also indebted to Hr Jasmes dalls
Cursiter, ¥ 8 A Scot, X s for the remults of an exanination of the
ruins, with a visw to the verification of seversl details whioh he kindly
e for s last suamer, .
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is a saall church placed within a quadrangular enclosure, which has consisted
of a stons wall about 3 feet thick, and of which nothing but the foundation
now reaains, Tha church itself is a almple oblong; the walls are lime-built,
and about 3 fest thick, msasuring exterually 24 fest 5 inches, by 17 feet

L inches long and 10 feet 2 inches wids. It has a doonay in ths middls of the
weot end, 2 feet wide. Tus Jambs are not splaysd, andi have no rebates for the
door, which seems to have been hung on the inside of the wali. The 1lintel and
almoat the whols of ons eidy are goos. The only window in the bullding is in
the centre of the sast end, the sill being about 6 feet froa the ground. The
hoad of the window is gons. It had a clear opening of 15 inches wids, with
Jambs splaying intermally to 3 fest 6 inches in width, and the outer part for
11 inches parallel. In the north wall thers is a receas or aabry 2 feet &
inches wide, the sams in height, and 2 feet in depth into ths thicknsss of the
wall, Scattered over the area round the church are the foundations of a

group of cells, 18 io number, construoted of uncessntsd stonss. They are acstly
clongated on the ground plan, with rounded corners; the walls from 2 feet -

6 inches to 5 fest thick; and rudely bullt of uncemented stonss. Ths largest
.7 h2ee cells msasures about 24 feet by 12 externally, and its internmal ares
is about 18 feet by 6. The settlement was protectsd on the sids next the land,
if not entirely enclomsd, by a stons cashel (1). Low, who visited the place
in 1773, records that oo the land sids it was still fenoed by a strong stons
wall, and this featurs 1sd hin to the beliaf that it had besn originally a
stons fort, Thers is a well closs by the church, and we are told that in the -
sixteenth century the place had still such a reputation for sanctity, that at
certain ssasons pacpls of all classss and conditions frequented it, cliabing to
the top of the rock én hand and knses. Even old ags aight be ssen ecraabling

(1) ¥ Cursiter treced ite ressins for 86 yards in April lasd. He atates tlnt.»
it 1s about 3 feet thick, faced only om thw ocutside, and Ganksd up on the
imrd.dnvithu.rhh._ -



its way through a road in many places not 6 inchss broad, and whare certain

death attendsd a slip. Tha motlive which drew 20 many to a place so difficult

of access and 80 remots froa population must have bean powerful, What they did

thus desoribedy - Having mads the circuit of the chapel three times, they

of fered thelr supplications with ¢lasped hands and bended kness, occasjionally
throwing stones and water from ths wsll behind thelr backs. Such practices as
these am simple survivals of the sarlier hablit of pllgrimage. A belief in
the spsoial efficacy of dovotional ceremcniss performed at churches foundsd

by particular saints, soon tock the place of those feslings of reverential

attachment to the foundsr's memory, which firat drew pllgrims to the spot. bBut

the strange thing here is that the foundsr is unknown, The church Las now no
naza, It had no name in 1774 when Low visited 4t. It had no name in 1529
whan John Bellenden 1ived in Orkney and wrote his account of 1t (1). That the
notion of its peculiar sanctity survived so long aftsr the nane was lost, is
proof that the fealing in which it originated was strong. The intrusion of
the Norss heathenism in the ninth century extinguished many of the Christian
traditions of the Northern Isles. But it did not extinguish them all ,,, But
without the assistance of record we cannot proceed to apply this general
concluslon to particular exaaples, and whatever may be the dats or the story
of the foundation of this ssttlemant cn the Brough, the archasologlioal result
of this investigation of ths existing remains is, not that they are of the
time, but that they are of the type, of the sarlisst Christian ssttisments.

(1)  Low's of 1724 (Kirkwall 1879), p 55.

Descriptio per ms Jo. Ben ibidem inoolantem, anno 1529,

(M3, Advocates® Litrary), printed im the Appendix to Barry's liistory of
ey .
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1653- JON R TUDOR, 278-9

Another thres-quartess of a mils or so bayond the Gleap brings yeu to the
Brough of Desrnsss. This is a stack or reck mearly imsulated at high tids. You
first have to dsscend te ithe beach sand ther clamber ever sese large beulders till
you Teadh the westerm side o¢f the stack, which is frea 50 te 100 fest alove sea-level.
A very narrow amd dangercus [ath, except te pesdle with very stsady beads, leads
to the sumait, which oonsists ef a plateau, ewal im shape, of abeut 400 fest by
240 feet. On the land sids are the remains ¢f a stons cashal er wall. In the
oeatre or asarly 8o, ef the plateau are the rsmains of the old chapel of pllgrimage’,
neasuring extarmally 24 feet 5 imches by 17 feet 4 imohes, and intermally 17 feet
4 inches by 10 fest 2 inches. The door is at the west emd, and thare appears to
have besn caly ons wimdew at the eastarm esd, and that, like the dser, 1s mstilated.
In the north wall is an amabcy or recess. BSoattered all ever the platsau are e
cosains of oslls, eightssa ia mumber, built ef woessated stenss; the largest of
whiahmmuuhmll:&futtumfut.Mhtu:ully_lﬁrutby6rnt.

On the lamdward sids is & mll. Andersea® is of ojinisn that beth ehapel er
cells go hack te the days of the msssastic phase of the early Celtlis ehnreh.

It is not impessible, therefere, that these ruds uiliings sy have boem
reoted by Cormed or seme of his fellawers, and be nearly thirtesn mmired years.eld.

Vhen Jo Bem wrete in 1529, the chapel was knewm a8 “the Maimm- or Burih”, and
be maryates hew persess of all ages and elasses frem the different lslands made
pllgrisages to the plase, and hiv Wre~Costod, oa hands and knoes, thay elinbed
with diffienlty to the top &y & Jath that enly adaitted ens o anesnd ot o tine. Onee
at the to), with bent knees and hands elasped, ihay presesiesd three tines rousd the
chapel ayrealing $o the Jairns of Bumgh, every nov and then thoeuing stenss sad

‘o Dorle's psed Qursigs 2 Astween's Sayilaad b By Chistlss e
' st
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water behimd their tmcks, LRvem at that date, whea the first sutteriags of the
Aeformation stomm were /8 yet ealy beard im thas distamoce, all recelisctiea er
traditica as to whom the chapel was dedicated ssems te have disappeared. imd
at the [resent day, it is said, no imhabitant o the parish ever visits the
chapsl vithout leaviag soks efferinmg behlmd,

1892, JAMES M MACBEATH, 61 amd 66-7.
Celtic churches, somsubat after the Irish type, were sltuated at the tue
extremss of the maimland - the roughs of Birmay and Desrmess....

Coaing now ts the ruime of a churvh aad semastio bulldiags aituated en ths
ireusgh of DesTness, it seems clear that we huve there & visible liak uaiting ws
to the leng past., It is highly prelmble that these are the eldest eccleaiastical
remains which we pesasas ef a type so primitive., jisd they besa situated anywhere
ut on an inaccessible headland, thay weuld have disappsared leag age. The Breugh
of Deernsss nsasurss 400 feat by 250 feot and is frem 90 te 100 fest abeve the
level of the ssa. Near its ceatre is the ruins ¢f a mmall ohareh, within &
quedraagular esclesure, corsisting of a stems wall abeut 3 fest in hreadth, of
vhich mething remaims tut the feumdatiens. It is a small edleag building, with
linebuilt walls ) fest ia thiock.ese, measuring eutaide 24 feet Wy 17 feet, with
the deor in the west ead, 2 fest wide, while the jsads are wt splaysd, and, thare
is ns rebate for the desr, whish ssesns to have boen g en the inaids of the wmll,
and may have boan the skin of an aaimal exffisisatly largs to eever the openlng.

Seattered ever the ares of the brsugh and rewnd the ehureh are the
foundations of & growd of oightem dry=-duilt sells. The settlensat ms pretestiod
o the sl wxt the mainlamd, Lif not entively endlesed, by & stens eashel, wiish,
pier to the emaination of these 1a Ireland in the early Jard of the eentuxy, led
te the sonslusien thai those on the Drough ware the remains of & stens fort. e
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church had mo ohms 80 far back as 1520, whea John Bellsadan lived in the islards and
wrots his aoccount of thea, yet at that time, far remots from ths pericd of its
sTeotion and dedication, so great a halo of samotity surrcundsd the place, that pecpls
of all ages and conditions mads pllgrimages to the sbrims.

1595, DAYID MACGIEBON AND THOMAS BOSS, 1l0l-5, FIGS 68-71

[The ssction on the “Chapsl ca the Rrough of Dsarnsss®.is, as the rest of
the Orkney and Shetlasd chapter, based om Sir Eeary Dryden's work "about forty
yoars ago”, dsposited with the Soclety of Amtigurries of Scotland,/

1901, THE REY J B CRAVEN, 11-12 AND 16-17

The Brough of Dsermesa is a rock mearly insulated at high tids, To pet
to it you dascead to the beasch, and thea reascend a stesp and marrow path, The
rook itself is about 100 feet above the sea level, and its top 1is a grasay
pPlatsau, flat and opea to all the winds that blow, The writer well ressabsrs
the first day on which he visited it. ifter tremping alomg over wet amd
slushy peat ground, the dascent and ascent were made. It was & 0014 amd dark day,
with oocasionsl heavy showers. The scens was glesny and aad in the extress., Ia
the middle of the platean stands a ruin, belisved to have besn a charoh, and arewsd
it are & sstlisa of stome heaps, suppossd t0 have beem the buis of & oslomy of
sarly soclesiastics, A well is at the acuthern alds, It Tequired a great deal
of failth to telieve that what lay wefere ws was any mare than sene ahie)
shelters, But the place was and is sacred grousd. Till within recest times
pilgrisages were nads to the ‘Balmms of Irugh', and offerings (net of great
valus) were laft Wy visitors, whe appear to have, on ths cemmsa protestant
principle, sxpectad a great deal for wery little., The customs asscciated with
the pligrimages, of going three tismes smmd the chapel en bended knees, “aad
svery now and them throwing atones and water Mehisd their Wasks”, leck mere like
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jeganioc rites than any remains of Christian customs, The chapel which stands
near the centre of the trough, was saclosed in a yard 57 fest by 45 feet. Omly
the foundation remains. "“The chapel is a parmllelogram 24 feet by 5 inches by
17 feet 4 inches ocutside™., Only about 4 or 5 feet remain above the ground, It
stands pearly east and west. There appears to bave been amly cns wimdow at the
sast end, which, howsver, ahows signs of having beea fittsd for glass. In the
north wall near the east end, is an auabry 2 feet & imches wide. On the edge of
the brough appear the reaains of a stons cashwl or wall, The dsdicatios of the chapel
is unknown. BSuch fortified groups of bulldiags are comsca im Ireland asd the
west of Scotland and must De of a very early date. Perhaps the actual frageant
of this chapel is the oldest im Oriwy. Certalnly the fortificetioca om the
isoclated btraugh shows that it was fruciad wiea the mative Christians, or, rather,
their teachsrs, required protsotiom.

The Irough of Birsay is in scse reapects the westarn amalogy of that at
[seTwens. Bt acces is mmch easier, and the ssai-island is larper.

1906, L DIETRIUESON AND JONAN MEYER
Eaxiish dridanent (pp O aad 10-11)

The A "krosh” & alsd empleyed for o fou helas fertifisd by Bature or art
{Dearnsas and Mreay). Their purpess is eufficleatly distinot, and Visir age,
concerning whish epinions hewe differed greadly ...

Dulde of Ooltls Chumhes 1a Pressivallem

(1) The chureh en the Bueugh of Dnemnsss, with & sellsstiem of beshive-heuses.
Until quite recently, pilgrisages were mads to this ehmroh ...

voe H0llase mays = and the poessat anbhec's chosrvations laads hin to the same
remilt «» tat pligrisages weare més to s ek ea the Brosh of Krsay, preswably
becaust the origimal ebureh, like that om the Bresh of Deernses, was aa ¢ld Osltie
[ 1.1 1,
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Presarved Celtic Church ruins / o4

1, The Church on the BEroch of Deernesa (Fig 22 and 23)". Many strange

superstiticas are linked with the old church up on Mainland's most south-
easterly promontory, the Saya's Dymesmyli (Mullhead), which hare forms the
previously mentlonsed Naturally fortified, ao-omlled Broch of Deernseas. Ths
brooh is separated from Mainland, ocnly by a dsep and amall ravine with the
Ioland associated with the Plateau, cnly approachable by a steep, small and
hardly safe path., The Plateau rises up almost vertically about 33 = in the
alr and is about 133 m long froa North to South and about 80 m broad from

West tc East, In the middle of the Platsau lles a very old church ruin, which
has all the marks of it bteing Celtic, It is surroundsd by a stons wall, of
which only the foundations are left. Where ths entrance to this enclosure

nas been is not ~lLviously visible. Tha church, which forms a simple
parallelogram, is almost accurately orientatad. This is tuilt in dry stone
[alling/, of tha customary dark mudstons, whoss stones are froa 0.33-1 m long
and 0,05=0.15 m high. The walls rise up now anly 1.66 m above the ground and
are densely covered with yellow moas (lichen, liverwort)., The church has

a door opsning expossd, which is found in the west wall; btut this ia
asyaastrical and appears to have been modified. The door's upper part has
disappeared = probably was in the past a rectilinsar shape, The doerposts do
not expand, either in or out, and M have no estimaie for door panelling,
rather one does not ses a hole for any bean., Thare is only trace of one window,

/Fig 22, Ground plan of church on the Broch of Dsarness,
Dryden's Fig 70 in lbboumdﬂoulﬂgﬁ.

Fig 23a, Church on the ¥roch of Deerness, overall plan,
- Drydan's Fig 638 in KaoGibbon and Roas 1896,

Fig 23b, Church on the Broch of Desrmass, Perspective
- Drydan's Fig 69 in MeoGibbon and Ross 1896
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which is in the East wall, Its higher part has disappsared, but it has no
doubt had flat lintels = or possibly an imitation, in a stonsa=-cut, round arch.
Ry dlgging arcund the entrance it is clear that the window lies about 2 m above
the floor, but the level is not certaln whan the interlor is filled up with
rubbls heape. Cos of tha window's Jambs has wholly dieappeared, and the

other is in part ruined; but of its height o 0.41 m is left., The sill tapers
out from it in the Irlsh church's customary manner, nsverthsless the cutarsost
vas running in parailel 0,30 m, and [ryden means [thig/, so that the window -
naturally in an oldsr perlod - has had glass, In that cass, then, the parallels
aro departing from the Irlsh Church's usual couras towards the outer wall, in

the oldsr alterstion.

Up against a part of the eastern wall is raissd a caim. In the North
wall towards the eastern end ans finds an aumbry without any closure. The Toof
has parhaps cansisted of large flagstoneas., Almost 33 m South from the church is
found a well, and ou the Brooh's southern side remains of a stons wall there,
whers the entrance up to ths Plataay from the depths comes up, and wharn also
the entrance has bsen, CSoxttered around ths church lie the foundations of at
loast 18 saall huts, sostly rectangular, but /aleg/ the roundsdeoff form,

This has assuredly been aranged for use by Pllgrims = also quits 1like the Irish
“beshive=houses". The precipitous, dangerous path up the broch's vertical

side was still, long after the Reformation, ths subject of visits of nuserous
rllgriss, who in supsrstitious plety travelled the dangercus way crawling oo
their knees, The site has aluays, owing to its antiquity and its origin froa
the Celtio fathers, been surroundsd with the peopls’s holy vensration. As

one sses, the sits has clearly Coltic characteristics and is certainly older
than the coaing of the Norseman.
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Dimegsiops: Yard arcund the church 18,70 m x 14,75 m, Cwrch H a x 5.68 m cuter
dimsnsions, Weat uell thickmess ¢ 1 @, the othar walls ¢ 1.02 a, The door 0.66 m

broad., The window's light opening externally 0.41 m, imtermally 1.15 n. The huts
¢ Emx b4 a, Wall thickmess O,83 mx 1 m.

1909, JOHN GO (ED), 19=20 AMD 156-7

Another place-sams which records am ¢ld-warld alsslon station is tiat of
IeoImeas ... We must remsaber that the Norss lowaders were likely to mame the place
on acoount of its appsarmnce from the sea., They may, of ocourse, have moticed a
chanos herd of dser msar the cliffe; but ome thiag is certals to have cawght their
eys - the wmusual aight of a duilding of stoms oa the Rrough of Deermesa. Sone
remains of this tuilding, and of a latsr cse on the sale sits, still exist); amd
it was loag regardsd us in same way a saored place, to which pllgrisages were mads.
This wilding was in fact one of those outposts of early Christianity = a Culdes
sooastery. Whea the Eorse invaders came, they doubtless fomd it escupled hy same
ammem.umumumum.m-u»m
headland was mansd the Priest' Qaps, or Desrnesa.

oo the Brosh, with its anclsat chapsl, /1p/ spesinlly interestisg. A
church axisted hexe Wfore the Neres peried, and was doubiloss e cdute of L

sane DiI-Belg: ¢ the nets of the Oulide Jrisste, Belng given % v tlstrist.

1917. TE MY AMMIBALD B 8COTT, J42

vos seThALS S and CRATISD Tefereases shew that in the eighth ssatury the
Fletish Conmunition wre dimiriduted not ealy to the axireaity of the Nalnland, bud
throughtut the Oriceey and Cintland Islands, and bayend, ¢4 the Ihlands ‘towards 4w
fressa std', Unfertumateiy, the Vikings left Liviio 0 wh of 4 dtilamsuts of oee
ccammitise bayend the wroshage, 1Uw the sightem eolle within the L4} a% Doecmees in
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Urkney and the skelstom of the Church, or the Round Tower of Egllshay; or the

bare Churchyard with the caffimed and turled Celtic dell of Mreay. Whea the
Vikings arrived om the Rortherm Ccasts and Islands, we know, from thw place-names
vhich they bastowsd, that they fowmd ancient amd active Plotish religiows
communities ... the commmitiss of 'S Colm the bishop' (Camdrariwe) at Noy aad
Burness; at Dsersees aad the adjaceat ‘Paplay’, at Riramy, Egllsbay and Fapa
vestra, all in Orkmey ... In the begimaing of the eighth ceatury the Plotish Charch
had givea to the Narthara Maialand and Islands a ainistry as efficisat and as wll
organised as the Christiaa ministyy ia these places today.

19168, J STOKR CLOUSTON, 91
«e. Chapels o very small, sometises wainmabited, islands or oa desolats
ssaboard promomtories ...

Vith regard to the ... class, Dr Crawes, suthor of the Ajptory of ihe Chureh
in Opkney, gives the veluable opinica that they were of two Kide. (a) Chapels of
Pilgrinage, much as the chapels on the Rrough of irsay, the irough of Dsermess,
and the Enhallow) the oldsst religious foundations in the el wds, (b) VYotive chapels,

It is certain that neither of thees two kinds oould have beea inteadsd for
anything in the sature of public worship, Their isolated poaitiem forbids this
inteaticn, as also the faot that they had mo kirklasds or emclumeats appeTtaining to
thea. Their lomely situatiom also shows that thay were mever attachsd to any private
estates or masions, This clase of chapel falls cutside the ecope of thess papers.

121, NE Y J ChOMARTY SMITM, 110

ees Do0rneas, i Orkney. The saie, 48 Dr Ouam in his adairebls Orkney Bosk
rightiy, 1 thiak, helds, is tanssadle % the fast that when the Nersemsa came to
Orkmay, they fownd o Dnerusas, sn eutlying peint of the malaland, & Christisn
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settlemsnt, and called it [Har Bess, that is the [Tisstd’ mess (The Oxkamy Beck,
Ir Guam p 23), A glasce st the grousd plan of this typical instamce of a Celtlo
Christian sattlemsat ahous with what Justico Professor Sayos ... trmoes the
indsbtedness of the Celtic moamastic armrangeasats to Egypt. Nare, at Dserness, w
have a countsrpart of the Egyptian Leura, a group of 18 beshive cells murommdiag
a tiny church, and the whols ¢nzlossd by a cashel such as ie ocmmcm in Ireland. The
plan of an Egyptian Christian settlesent fitted im saturmlly with the clan life of
the Celts. The Abbat was the chief Christian commmity or clan, ad aroumd him
his monks clustered, each in his own cell.

The old settlsment is ca a timy ialet, the flat top of which is 100 fest abowe
saa lsvel, lying closs to i™» ¢liffa o Imernsss. The church is s almpls cblong,
3+ by 15 feet, having the door in the west and lhe omiy wiadow in the east end.
Closs by the church is the well. The ials was a greatly vemeratsd place aof
pligrisage, and around it for many a loag year the halo of sanotity liagered.

Even after the Beformation, in spits of eoclesisstioal bem, pecpls from the
ne ighbouriag islands made their pllgrismage to Imermsss, and offered thair gifts
at the ancisat shrims.

0.1522, THE MY C L AOQLAXD, 71

Brough of Deernsss ... 18 a huge stask of rvok=flat at the tep - ovideatly at
some Teacts period éatached by the sea frem the premeatery of Deermsss, of whieh it
forme & ocmtimmstion. The sppresch §0 it is by an dlasst perpeadisular dsessat frem
the oliffs om to the Deash = e &ry at low tide = en to the Loy of the Brech., On
this Brech aTe the remalns of buildings enelessd by o wall, They reseadls in echaraster
and gentral appedrense these of Mhallig Michasl, but are, prebadly, nod of oo oarly
a date. They are amsh leas pexfest Lhan the Irish reaains, but are in their wy
squally interesiing, and Juv™adly oven loss knowm. The buildings wese erigimlly s
mall Chareh, and sems half-4ssen oells, cash prebadly for ite single temsat, Ty are

oW very reinsus, but easugh remains ¢4 dstornine thel genernl shammster. They am all
dry=wuilt, witheut mestar o comant of say kind.
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16273, HUGH MARW 1Ck, 265

Fr Stott would almo regard the came [serncss as derived from the Celtic
dalre, an ik grove, which he mays uvas used by the Pictiah clesrgy of their
churches. How, allhough there are Dlain trazes af a church sstilemsnt co
the Brough of Imermess, that seans the slenderesi evidaence on which to base the
theory that daire was corrupted into the Saga word Dyrnes, from which the

prusent nane is deacended.

15273, JOHN NOQITY, 76 AND -3

The naae of no Geltic or other Salnt was associated with the Rrough of
leeness, “gilsay, Fapa Stmogsay, the Paplays and Fapdals, although those placsa
were unguestionably the scenss of the labours oJ the earliest Chriatian

misgsionaries, The nams Deerness may be derlved trom “diar®, seaning priests (1) ...

Yas a Celtic religious community founded cu Eynbalios by thoas followers
of 5t Kentigern ? ... Such institgtions, at an early perind, were cartainly
on tha Brough of Deernnss, and the Brough of Dirmay; and the came and
associations of Tyrhallow proclaim that isls, also, as the home of Celitc momka.
We vonture the furthsr suggestions (thovgh direct evlideace is lacking) that the
Yopastary on Deemess vad foumded at the time of the firet alsalosary viait -
St Hinlan's or the visits of disciplsc traimed by St Xinlan; that on the
Brough of Birsay bty St Cols: and the first dynhallow Hamastary Uy Ksatigamn'’s
disclplen.

(1) Jakobesa regarded Deerness an [yr-asts (imlsal-ansse).
a : Dis




1926, JOHN MOCHRY, 25«6

ihe Srough of Deerneas was aptly described by Low as "a large
peninsulated rock™., The gap or channel betwsen it and the HKainland is not
rany yards wide at the narrowest part; and over its rocky bed the sea flows
at covtain states of tho tilde., The ascent is by a somswhat dangesrous path
up the wslide of the cliff. In the sixtles of last century Sir Honry I~vden
took measurements, which vere subsequently verified by Mr Jamas W Cursiter,

% 4 (Seot), for Dr Joseph Andergon's Scotland in rarly Christian Times,

The surface of the Brough is 400 fest by 250 feet; haight above sea level,
% to 100 fest, Thare are remains, on the sids rext tc¢ the FHainland, of
what Or Anderson ocalls "a stone cashel”., Its foundaticns, extending to

565 yards, were traced by Kr Cursiter who found it to be “about 3 fest thick,
faced only on the cutside, and banked up on the inner side with earth?,

2ir Henry Uryden prepared a ground-plan of the Brough, and its oxtremely
interesting group of ecclesiastloal remainsi= The ruins of & chapel, 24
feat 5 inches long, 17 feet 4 inches wid outsids measuremsnts, and ths
foundationa of eighteen beshive ocells, the largest of which alsost equals the
chapel in length, but is narrower bty about 5 fest, Thare is & well pear
the south end of the Brough ... The Brough is covered with gruss which
affords good pasturage for sheep. The foundations of the oslls are still
visibl~, tut are owered bty turf and long grass., The chapel walls stand

a few foet above the surfacs, but in parts are almost burisd undsr loose
stooes .., [Thase/ are perbaps the earliest socusents of Christian
aicsionary entarprisc in Orknay.

Jo Ban, whoss tour in Orkney took place somewhere in the sixtssnth
century (oertainly not before 1529), makes a special refersnce to the
Brough of Deermeas, It is the earlisset refersace we have .., "0n it *

3a: 1




ho zays,”is a chapel called the Bairns of Brough. Hither flock tagether

froa varicus islanis man, youth and boys, 0ld peopls and ssrvants innussrabls,
in truth coming with naked feet, as forserly related; they ascend praying,
where noos except ane at a time can coms to the chapel, Here is a woll, pure
and sparxling, which is indeed wondsrful. Then the pecple on bended kness and
with clasped hands, without confidence in the God that is, supplicate the
Bairna of Brough with sany incantations, throwing stones and watar behind

them and walking twice and thrice round the chapel. Having finished their
orisons they return homs affirming that they have perforsed their vows™. The
{nformation hare contained throws a gleam of light on thw influsnce tiwe
risaionary monka of thie place must have exerted on the inhablitants of Orikney
many centuries before Jo Ben's visit, OCns point of pesculiar interest is the nawe
he appliea to the Chapel -~ ths Balrns of Brough - a name still umed by Lesrnesi
fishermsn. Is the word “"Eairna™ the Norse and Scots for children? (1) Or ia

1t a corruption of an 0ld Celtic word? If the former, it may have been
applied to the souls of the holy mnklruho had laboured there undsr a
missionary loader, and whose virtuss wers held in such remeabrance by the
people that they supplicated them on bended kneed ...

Wallace, in his Higtory of Orkney (writtan before 1683), refers to the

Chapel of the Brough as a place of pilgrimage, and hs says that even in his
day the custom was cantinued., “Nor to this houf are thase pllgrimages caitted
by tho coamon peopls, who still, for the obtaining of soms good or
deprecating of sose evil, do frequent some chapels they have sost vensration
for." Wallace takes no notics of tha motks cslls,

It was in 1774 that Low visited Deernsss., He notes that “the rock 1s fenced

(1) Bairns is pretty certainly a corruption of O N , “prayer=house”,
Gf the P Westray form Binnas Kirk , Yol, III),

X Lot ¥ [Rewies]
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with a very strong wall, and within, many foundaticas of ssall huts, "
r.oarking that these "plainly demonstrate that this /the islsi/ has servec
more purposss than that of religion, which in all probability has been the
lntest®, He thinks “i{.surely has been a rock fort ... and the huts have
been for shaltsr both to men and goods in time of public disturbance”-

He notlices, of courss, the chapsl and the visits of pllgrims.

The 01d Statistical Account merely repeats what Low says regarding the

Broughy and tha Hew Statlstical Account is altogether slldnt with regard to it.

with the exception of Ur Joseph Andarsan, who gave a desoription of the
Brough and its antiquarian remains, modsrn writers of books on Oriney have
added nothing to what was recordsd by Jo Dan, Wallace and lLow, Tudor devotes
a whole page to it, quoting Anderscn's details; but 1o adds, "At the

present day, it is eaid, no inhablitants of the parish ever visita the chapel
without leaving scme offering behind”. 1 have visited the place twios - the
intorval being 30 years - tut if the inhabitants who encompanisd me lsf{t sces
of ferings, they dld not wish an cutslder to ses them doing so.

Dletrichson = no mean authority = says that one of the meams by which
Celtio churches in Orknay may be distinguished from Norwegian is that the
former are dry-built, the latter with mortar. If this is trus, the rulned
chapal on the Brough of [Deerness say be claimed as a building of the Rose
periody for Anderson says the walls of the church are lime=bulit, This iva

: rathar interesting point on which further expert opinicn should be obtained,
What remains of the walls of the bes-bive cells shows that they were drye
built, Hay I bere express the need for careful and skilful vessarch on that
mored islat rock, In the enclosed area which surrounds the chapsl « probably
the ancisnt burial ground of the aonks - or under the floor of the chapel,
there may be mosussatsl staones whioh would tell the story of the sarliest

nissicparies to tow Qrkmays.
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1926, THe 2V ALCHIBALD B SCOTT, 51=3

*BRAUGH" AT U LRSS, ORKNEY
Along with S Colm's, Brough of Birsay, and the grouped casulac at the !
Church=site on the Kirk Holm of Corinsay, the Community-site on tia Brough
=1 Deer, Orkney, makes a vivid denand aon the historical mind to bLe |
reconstructed and explainad, The site i¢ on an iglat over one hunired feet
zbove the seay and the ‘sle lles under the e¢ast oliffs of tlw peninsula, now
cailed “Deer Ness®, The persistence of the naas 'brough' suggesis that toe
otte had been cccupled in pre~Christian tloes by a broch, Here an the
riateau of the {olet could have bLesn seen, uniil last century, undisturbed
oxcapt by weatnhsr and tice, the éntire bulldings of a Brito-Celtlc
christian corzupity. The site wvas typical and characteristlo of the othar
Ninianic settlemsnts., The bulldings inoluded a church 24 Gy 14 feet, and
surrounding 1t a group of eighteen cagsulae of the “"beehive" typo, the huts
of the breth:r‘n; All were inclualed within a 1llg, like other early British

Church sitesy and the rampart ir stlill visible,

Veneration for the Church and Well continued until timee quits recant,
but venaration of the foundisr wns either opce 80 general that no ane
thought 1t necessary to record his name, or so infrequent that his namse

gradually dropped out of meaory..

+ss Outsiders assume the "less” originally refer»yd to "Hull Head";
but the old pronunciations “aiwll” and "muls” show that this headland has
baen “Hull® from Caltic timesj; and that the Vikings “pulled™ this nams into
the form ani meaning of their oun word pylj. Obvioualy “"Iser" is a primal
spot=nans which has been generalised and mads explicative of the other
local places, To what spot did the Vikings originally apply their nane
"Nezs”? The answer is to the projectlon at the spot “Dser”, as the ocompound

nane "Desr NHess"” indicates; and the dssignation "Deer” pertained pnot to the
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islet but to the erectiocns on it, which would inovitably attrasot the attention

of the scouting ships of a Viking fleet, on the lockout for garrisocosd .
brochs,

To what wias the nams "Deer®™ dus? As it belonged to the ssttleasnt on
the "Brough" islet, with its "NHess"™, its origin must be scught in some
pecullarity of a religlous comamunity of the Brito—Ceitic Church, It has
already been noted that S Ninlan and others transported the names of their
central Communitlies ,,, Seeing that tha Abardsenszhire “Dear" had besn transportad
to Calthness, thare 1s every likelihood that it was also transported to Orkney,
and given to the setilement of the religious community stationed on the
"Brough”...

...Tha name goes back to the religious rites of the Britieh Celts and
thelr Nature-worship. The derl or dér was the cak grove any ocakx grove,
tut in a relliglous connsotion, the Sacred Place where the rites were
celebrated, The known polloy of the early British Christian missionaries
was to ocoupy the sacred places of the Celtic hecthen with their Churches,
Thase Churches were bullt of timber from tho ociks that grew around thea;
and the House of Praysr, or the Church, was called in 0ld British pr-tig,
and in sarly Irish Dertaig or Dertegch, frequaatly precsdsd by a saint's
name. In Sis way “der)™ or *J8r? of the hesthan Celts, Mwoams part of the
Sacred Places of the Christian missionaries; and deri or 4or becase the
ipstitutiocal name, synonymous with House of Praysr, and tranaportabls,
becsune of ite assoolations, to suci British foundations as Dser of
Caithness and Deer of Oricay.

The physical features of the "Brough” are such as distinguish all
Ninianio sitss., Ninlan may first have eslected it, but the nane "Deer”
suggests that it was crganised and eettled by either Drostan, or Cola,

of 014 ] .2, wbo oarrisd oo his work...
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The Xirk Hola of Copinsay 1s an occlesiastical dopendency of Deer,
av Tmor Neag., It ie about four niles from the Community-slte on the

! "Brough'" of Ueer,

=

28, A % DPPSERR (1920, 55-6)
Johan leyer ia of the opinlon that hw has discoversd in the Critneys the
vuing of probably olx churches which nust be of Celtic and not Worsy origin,
‘ he best pregerved of these i3 the ruln at Deernoess, Publ as regards the others

the-e s sone doubt ...

i Tt nay b doubtfui whether these .., rulns cap prove the existence of any

‘ rutonsive Celtic Christlanity in the islands beforo the advent of the

1 NOTEETe,

|

1 10, A W 3TIGRE R, 137=0. Translated by Christoephor D Ueorrls

* Tt la not appropriate here to go into detallo about the whole of the
avenaenlogieal tople of Celtic chu—ch ruino, It la enough to point to the

conclusion, In Shetland [therz/is still not certalnly semonstrated a Celtic

church ruln from tho perlcd before the 1lth century., In the Crkneys it lae

soselble that thero exicts a few, but excavations ere not exhaustive enough

and are limited to sinply one single version of a groud-plun which is

consldered to tally with the Celtic churches tefore tue development of church

building which begins after the 960s - & single rectangular plan without

chancel, & door in the west wall and a little window in the east wall, Further

lisportance i attached to the fact that In the older Celtic church building

art coment ie not used in the magonry.

Two of the church places in the Orkneys wliilch, as we underatand it, are

typlcal of Coltilc mizslon's whole chavacter are the church at [rerness and that

on Firk-jiola near Coplngdy.
2: BO
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The church at Decrness is in reality more than & church, it 1s a site
~f the typlcal Celtic form, with church, huts, well and wall etc. Malniand's
aoet north-easiorly corner projects into the North Ssa, and exacily south of the
projection a little peninsula sticke out, but often the neck ‘v under water
trom flood=-tide eoca, The peninsula is ¢ 20 metres high, and cne comes up
bit by bit a 1ittle difficult path. On that plateau, enclrcled by the North
“ea, st11l lie ruine of a church and 10 amall hute, of which some have beshive
fora, a well and a wall which has surrounded the whole. The sito has never
teen properly excavated. There exists a suvvey by SIR HENKY DRYIEN from the
15~08 and a spirited and interesting descripticn by JOHN MWOWY from 1525

(a2, 29).

From a demcription which comes down from the tine before the
‘eformation, *his place 1s told about, which at the time was called Balmms of
Erough. H MARWICK has polnted out that hLaippse is the O N boenhus., Hither
came a countleas nuaber of pacple at ths time 1n the 15208 in great throngs,
tells JO HEN, youth and boys, married and single, Thay weut 'arefcoi up over
the oliff towards the church, to the accompanimsnt of praye:: and song they
approached, but only ons at a time could come into the chu=ch, UYith foldod
hands ard on their knees, thay sang hymns at the charch, /and/ thersafter
went wo or three tinss round it, while they cast stona and water behind them,
When they finished in this mannsr with all their prayers, they went home in the

suve hellsf that thay had fulfilled their vows,

From the accounts of journeys, right down to the 1660s we know thet they

have continued with this,
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The church rulps which are left standing are bullt of dark slate in
rough masonry. Now DIFTRICHSGH says that thie wall e wlthout cement and also
older than the G60e, but NOUNY dafinitely says it is cemented. he church
ls cnly 8 x 5.7 metres, and the well thickness is o 1 metre. There ia a

dver—opening in the weat wall and traces of & window in the cast wall,

The hut sltes are mostly four=sided, aqi? one of them ia ag large as the

chureh itself,

o calnt is known In connection with this site. Although this is pernaps
in absolute teras not o old, it is a fully characteristic, essentially

Celttc nonantic slte, similar to thoge which in the Hebrides are called

ciasheis,  As typlcal can bo mentloned the church and surroundings at North

Yona, iowls (Feport, Ancient Comnissian, no 9) ...

The age of Deerness church 1e not deolded by this, Churches of the same
form and construction are built in the Hebricdes as late as in the 15th-17th

conturles (Feport, page XLVIII). But the overal) charmcter af the construction

hans an origin in the Celtlo pre=horse verlod.



1930, R C A HM S, (1644, 11, 250-1)

621, CHAF=L WITH HUT FOUNDATIONS, BICUGH OF IEERN:SS.

Littlo more than half a mile 5 of the Mull Head, on the precipitous
" ccast of the parish, a rocky storm-gwept headland, known as the Mull,
projects seawards betwesn tha large and Little Burra Geos, It rises sheer
to a hetght of almost 100 ft above the water on the N and W, but on the
F, whers most exposed to heavy seae, tha vertical cliff-faece 1a not
more than 40 £t hish, and the rock above rises in a steep slope to the
tevel, turf-covered summlt, From the almost perpendicular S side a parrow
riiges once run between the geos, Aaintalning a corcction with the madinland,
but eroslon has reduced the height of thie natural bridge to less than
70 ft, so that, in effect, the headland has long besn little more than an
izland (Flg 433). It was regarded as such by Fordun, who included the
"Borch de Dernes" in hie 1list of islands in Orkney.

[egolats and unsultable for habitation as was the Brough, it had the
merlt of security, for access was posalble only on its landward sids,
There a stesp, narrow track still climbs obliquely up the cliff-face to the
suamit, where the approach was once secured by a breast-work, bullt of flagstones
without mortar, extanding all the way across for a total langth of about
260 ft, Ko trace is left of the entrance gats, as the wall is for ths most
part reduced to its foundation, although nsar the W end it still rises
to a maximum helght of 2t 6 ins for a length of 7 ft, and is suffioclently
well preserved to show that, whan entire, it must have been 3 ft thick,
It was reinforosd with 5 £t of earth banked up insids (1) When seen by Low in
1774, it was still in fair pressrvation., A heap of flagstonss imsediately
insids it, some set on edge while others are either tilted or proms, covering

(1) Andersom, Sc 8, P mJ' aote,
2: 19
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altogother arn area of coms S0 ft by § £4, may be the remains of a shalter
constructed latar, but is perhaps aore likeiy to be dsbris from a partial

clearance mads by Hr James Curaiter over half a century ugo."

Thy site thus enclosed by breast-work and oliff measures 142 yds from
N to 3 with an average vreadth of 80 yds from k to ¥, Bensath the turf
can be traced a saries of dcasstic bulldings grouped round the ruins of an
earlier ochapel which stands within a rectangular enclosure near the aiddle
of the area., The place was sxamined by Iryden in 1866, His desoripticn
which appeared in the (rcadlan in the following year, was reprintsd by

MacGibbon and Ross (2),and was alsc utilised by Anderson (3).

THZ CHAFFL = Oblong on plan and single-chambersd, this msasures
17 ft 1 in from ” to W by 9 ft 9 in froa N to S within walle about 4 ft
thick, bullt of flagstones laid in clay and lime-pointed, but now generally
dilapidated and not more than 4 ft 9 in high., In the centre of the W
gable is the entrance, about 2 ft wids, its Temaining Jamb showing no
| provision for a door frams. Dryden saw an incoaplets window in the E gabls,
6 ft from the ground, This was 1 £t 6 in wids cutside, but 2 £t more within,

|

\

\ He alno measured an aumbry at the £ end of the N wall, which was 2 £t 4 in in width
\

} and haight by 2 ft., Although reduced to its foundations, the wall encloaing

the chapel is still traceabls over its full extent with a thickness of 3 ft.
DOFTSTIC BUILDINGS = The two oircular huts isclatsd on the edge of the

|

|

| ¥ oliff and the cluster of twenty=ons oircular huts at the 8 & cormer,
|

| which average 10 f{ in dianeter and are grouped to N K and & of & large
|

(2) Ecglen Aroh ot, 1, pp 101-5
g (1) Zp.Aks »p 101

| Hr Cursiter statss, howsver, that in his recollsction most of the dabris

_ was cant over tha cliff,
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oircular depression, probably a catche=plt for water, may perhaps be
regarded as vostiges of a primary occupation older than the chapel, A
second but smaller catch-plt to the N, which is ccnnected to the S wide of tha
chapel enclosurs by a ditch or trench about 1l yds long, may also be
~elated to thls larger groi-., The nineteen rectangular buildings, N, E,
and ¥ of the chapel, which vary in sise from about 12 ft square to 39 ft in
length by 15 ft in width, and are arranged as ahown on the plan, are
probably 1o bo regarded as contemporary with and ilater than the chapel,
along wlth the shallow, oblong depression, 9 ft wide and extanding

29 ft 5 of the enlosing wall, Eut there is nothing to indicate the p .iad
or purposs of an incoaplete building 4t the S ¥ corner of the site, now

represented by a low croscantlec mound,

According to “Jo Ben",(4) the place, which he calls “The Bairnes "
of Brughe", wag a famcus rescrt in the 16th cantury for aale pilgrims of
all ages, who salked barefoot twioe or thrice round the chapel, casting
stones and water behind their 1aoks, while uttering invocatiuns. And he
also apcaks of & "well of water, pure and sparkling”, possibly one of the cateh=
pits, Fvan #m0 late as tho end of tha 17th century the chapsls of tha Drougha
of Tesyness and of Birsay were the two most favaured pllgrimerasorts in
orkney  (5).

(4) Facfarlans's (s H8), <14, p 218,
0n "Jo Ben" see ) 5=6), pp 230 £f.

{5) Wallace, (1700), p 69,
af also v ¥y PP ' .

ax ("Breugh and Chapel®), 2 Juna 1930,
" Almost certainly a corruption of the O  Joephus, chapsl,
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1932, JOHN GUNK, 96=08 AMD 240

. an excellsnt example of another cliff feature - he Brough of
[werness. This projection le loined to the land at its bamc, wnd the sea
does not flow betwsen, but the junction affordz a very precarious and rather
dangercus approach, On the Brough iteelf are the remains of a very anclent
chapel and of primitive huts or cells, marking this as one >f the saites
occupled by the early Plctleh monks or hermits. Like mary others in Orkney,
this ohapel was held in veneration till within a couple of centuries ago and
even later, and secret pllgrimages and votive of ferings were with difficulty

abolished by the sinleters.

. though the primltive forms of Celtlc church worship were later swept
awvay, the sanctity of the Celtic church foundations was eo0 great that down to
the closs of the elighteenth century the common people in the Islands were in
the habit of making pllarimage thither and psrforming thelr vows with quaint
and superstitious ritual. The old chap-i on the Brough of iserness, and
that o7 St Tredwsll in Papa Westray, wire two of the most famous shrines;
others, however, were hardly less Tever:d, such as that af 3t Colm on the
Brough of Birsay, later eupersedsd by a Romsaweque bullding, with nave, choir,
and tiny semicircular apese, dedicated to 3t Peter. 3Such veneration is never
recorded in connection with anmy of the later churches or chapels erected by the
Norsemsn theaselves; 80 deep was the impreszion left by thoes first evangeliste

of the Rorth.



13, ¢ L CURWE, 71
Thwre are redalins of a xmastic eeitlement or the Arough of Dmermees.
™ese have not yet bteen excavated, but they appear fi.z surface indlcatioms,

to follow in plan the smaller Irieh monasteries. (2)

196, 30 A M3, I, 41, 42

Feaalna f another ecc esiastical setablishment (N5 521, the origin
of whlch pertaje goes back to G ltic times, are to be seen o the Fwsh of
merrens, a small ™ninsu.a on the south-eazat of the _Tkney sainland. Rere
again the church and the rectanguiar bulldings are alzcet certalnly of
aellasval date, hut the round hutr may well be older. T™he site, 1t may he
added, is not unlike that of Blrsay (:), and pilg: '‘magee were made to both
places In the Middle Ages and later {(2). Posalbly the resains of small

uildings on the Com Holm of Coplnsay (Ko 472) are to be similarly explalned.

A few of the churches are perhape to be regarded as survivals, though
only in the sense that they probably occupy the sitee of more Cesltic
oratories ... The rather larger church /than mskerry/ on the Brough of
Iwerness (¥o 621), mesamuring 25 faet by 17 feet 6 inchwe, over mlls ) feet
thick, is similar in plam; the emtramnce, cmly 2 feet § lishee wide, cam still be
traced in the west gable, but a window in the east gable, part of which etill

existed in 1567, bas been completely demoliehed.

(2) fr.‘f.m glven to R C A!!Shl%.m‘fow

(1)  amdersom, ggotlapd ip EBarly Christiag Tiaes. let eer, p 169.

(2) Corsmomps sald to have beem perfermed at %) Breugh of Deermses in the
14th cemtury saggeet pre-Christias Weliefs (Macfarleme. Svarraahisel
Collagtiene, 3 M 8, ii), p 218).
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1551, HUGH MAWICK, 107, 111-112

Farly Celtlc Church Sitens

Jn the Brough™of Deerness and oo the Brough of Birsay ca opporite aides
of the Orknsy Mainland are to be found ecclesiastical remains that
undoubtedly date from the pre~Korse Celtic pericd also, The former site
is & peninsula at tho eastarn extremity of thw HMainland, sbout two scres
in extent, enclrcled by high cliffs and connscted with the mainland of
Jeernccs by a few fest of lesthmus rising only slightly above ssa-lsvel, Om
the grassy tcp of thie peninsula are to be ssen remains of a primitive chapel,
now, alas, & sere hea]p of setonws, near xhich are a series of foundatiocns of
early monastic huts, Though in the mosi lamsntable state of dscay and
naglect, this ie one of the most venerable sites in Orkney.

Tne impression that thess early Christian aissions were blotted out later by
pagan Norweglans can no longer be seriously entertained, for had it boan e
the sanctity attaching to the old Celtic church sites would be quite
inexplicable ... the unknown author “Jo Den”, writing towards the end of
the airteeth century, descrites scrsthing of the ritual in coansction with
pilgrimages to the ctarch on the Brough of Iserness, which be states was
known &8 “The Bairns of Drough®. There can hardly be any doubt that in
writing Bajns he was aisinterpreting the local pronunciation of an 01d
liorse word boep-hus, le, praysr-house or chapsl. To that chapel, he says,
flocxed old and young from the varicus igles, Barefootsd, and on hands
and knees, they climbed cos at & tisme up the stesp ascent to the top of the
Brough, whare there was a spring of pure clear water., Then uttering sany
incantations they went twoor thres times around the chapsl, with hands

® “nroch® and *brough”, pronounced slike and each pepresenting the sans word,
O N bopg, & fortified place, place of defence (etymologically place of safety),
are by convention gredually soquiring restrictsd applioation. The term was
srplisd in Orkney and Shetland (a) to the resains of "Piotish” towers, and
({3 to rocks or islets #0 diffioult of access that they might be regarded as
satural forts, “Broch” fs sow ustd as a technical term for the towrs only,
"brough® being used in 8ll ether chses, imoludiag names of farms on which broch
towers bave oace stood,

21t M




clasped and beadsd knses - casting stonss and water behind thaa (post tegory)
meanwhile, That dome, they returned homs agaln, saylng that thay had
coapleted their devotiams.

Pllgrinages to that sits contimed right dowm iato the latter half of
the sightesnth century. We have already noted the pilgrimages to 8t Tretrell's
chapel im Papa Westray; other griatly frequeatsd sites were the Brough of
Birsay and the chapel of Cleat in Jasday. The quite extreordinary degree
of vensration entertain for thoss hallored a'.tes in the xinds of looal pecpls
affords the clearest possibles proof that there can have beea a0 violeat hredk
in trediticm, and thus no gensral extirpstiom of Celtic olergy by heathen

Horseaman.

Co the comtrary, all ths avallable evidenos would seem to point the other

'w.

1952, HUGH MARNICK (1952b,31-2)

0f ... sarly Coltlo missicnaries, umwm-mm@.
Thay are still comwsnorated in & for place-mamss - PADg Vestray, Ihgg Stromasy,
Fapdple and Papley,and ssveral cld ohapel sites throughout the isles hawe
dedications to Celtic eaimts, Mut only two or thres sites can be regandsd with
axy oonfidence as having been aotusl nomastic ssttlesents of thoes early
aissiomriss to the aorth.

Their preference for settling on isslated or sdmi-insscessibls spots is
well knowm, and the Orkney aites referzed {0 are ecertainly of that mature, Ome
is the Breugh of Deermeds, a high, ssai-dstached, reeky Meadland at the easters
tip of Nainland, 7o reash that site ome has to elind a diffienlt path wp to
the fast of & clirf, at the suanit of vhich may otill %o setn rvading of an

snsisat ‘eashel’ wall, Inside that wall, en the greasay tep of the Madlmn ! are the

resains of & prisitive shngel, ntw alas, & Bere heap of slenvs, togeiher vith a
a: r
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a muaber of small scunds aarking where the huts of the commmmity wmoe stood,
The site wvas held im such vessration throughout Orkmsy Lhat peopls from various
1sles used to g0 om pligrimage thither as lats as the eightesath century. Today

this veassrabls site is utterly meglected and its amclest structures barely
recognimble.

1959. @ A RALLOR RAIFORD, 3}

A Coltio nomastery comaistsd of an enclosure and a group of bulldiags
within, The latter would include ooe or more umall cheurches, buildisgs for
conmdn purpoass, such as a school, a library aad a scriptorimm for the ocopying
of manuscripts, or a guwesthouss, and dwellings or oslls for the aomks, together
with the barns and workshops mesded by a oomsunity that was largely self-
supporting. Such momasteriss tecams ceatres of pilgrimage; they almys included
a censtary, burial in which was a privilage much sought after.

The headland known as the hrough of Desrmess ea the east side of
Mainland still retains the layout of am extessive Celtio nomasatsry with a mll
facing the landmard edge of the aliff and forming tiw momastic emclosurs,

1961, O A RALEQGN BAIFORD (1962a,9)

The layout of Tatagel 1s largely éstermined by tepegraphisal esnsideratisms,
aad the esattered grewping of the bhuts may wet be typisal. But the lack of am
ordsred plan sesurs en the umsxsavated site at Dnernses e the Nainland of
Orkmey (24), whare remotensss has pressrved the ssiting of all the uildings.

An sarly date for this aits is aseured by the fast that we of the Wmildings
are everlaid by the restanpular garth of & littls Neres chursh of &

(24) MO A KNS iy and Matland, we 621

i



Toma typlcal of the late elaventh and twelfth centuries. The pressnce of tnie
intrusive elenont shows that the main settlemsnt must date before ¢ AD 850

when the pagan Norse invaders occupled tho isiands. Kingarth oa Bute (25)

has a similar sequence ..,

1962, C A RALEGH RAIFORD (1062b, 166=7 AND 150)

Un the Drough of Deemess, 2o the east ccast of the malnlard of Orkney,
there is an exe~llent exaople of & Celtic monastery (Fig 30)(2). The site lies
on a projecting headland, separated from the malin plateau by a daep cleft or
fgeo, The only approach is by & steap path up the landward side of the headland,
whore the slope is criwned with a ruinsd wall, which isolates the flat top. This

wall forms the vallym nenasteril,so often recordsd in the texts; 1t esrved not

ouly to enclose the monastic city, but as a gymbolic tearrlor, exoluding the world.

The Brough of Deerness has not been excavated, but the maln eequence

ls elear. Uear the centre of the flat top of tha hwadland iea a small

ractangular oratory (measuring internally 17 fest by 9 feet 9 inches), with

a door near the cenire of the west wall and formerly retalning the bass of the

east window. The masonry is of stones bedded in clay with the surfacs of the

wall pointed in limss mortar, ‘his is an archaic technique, which appears in

the early Christian oratory at Whithorn (1) and on othar sites like It

Hinian's Chapel in Bute (2b); on Irieh analogies it cannot be much later than

the eighth century and might well date before 700 (3). The chapel is set asong
a2 group of rectangular bulldings, irregularly placed and of different sisgs.

(25)  Unpublished. Plans are avatlable in the Miessum at Fothesay.
() L CAMNS xil, No 621. /Fig 30 is a reprcduction of the K C A K M 5 survey
p1;af

(1) € A B Radford (1949), 106-19,
(2b) W G Altxin (1955), 64=76,

(3) UG Leask (2955), 1,2,
21 P8




The largest meagures about 40 feet by 24 feet overall., Thess buildings and the
general layout may be compared with the Csltic monastery at Tintagel, Cornwall,
which io xnown to have been in use totween the fifth and eighth centuries (4).
¥any of the bulldingo wero the cells of the monke; some of the larger onas
would have served the whols commainlity - among them would be the libvrary, the
facsthouse and other bulldings menticned In the texts, lncluding such domestic
structuren ags the kiln for drying corn. The headland at Desiness also has

two groups of cilrcular huts; most aye saail, with an average {lanster of about
10 feet, but they range up to 25 feet across, The evidence from the hormitags
on Gt Helen's, Iselee of Scilly (5), and olcewhere shows that thece huts were
sccasionally used in early Chrlstian tizes, but those on the Brough of Leerncas
miy well bo survivals froa an earlier age. Tintagel, the Cocrmicsh site to which
reference has already been made, also 1lics on a hcadland, with a maseive pilled
atone bank and diteh cutting off the monastic site (6)) both in position and in

ayout it forms a very clue parallel to the Brough of Deeme=s.

Mme rectangular enclogure of the churohyard at Birsay showa that Norse
type of cemetery. A rectilinsar layout 1s foreign to the earlier Celtic
church, and on this site the ssquonce has been demonstrated bty the excavation,
At Dmerness the ca~e sequence is indicatsd by the plan (Fig 30). The chapel,
Celtic in origin and lying asong ths bulldings of & Celtlc monastery, is
enclosed with a rectangular wall, which on ons side impinges on ane of the

earlier ponastic celis (1),

(4) € A A Radford (1935), 401~19y (1c+42b), 25=41y (1956a), 59=70,
(5) Excavated by the late B H St J O'Neil and Mrs O'Neil, Report forthcoming.

(6) Discovered in the latast excavation and not yst publiahed,
(1)  RoAMS x1t, Wo 621,




1762, FEEIERICK T WAINWRIGHT, 113 AND 115

The physical features of the Celtic church in Orkney are at last coaing
clearly into view with Ralegh Radford's excavations on the Brough of Birsay ...
Here are tho remains of a Celtic monastery, with its chapel, and with a
graveyard wnich has produced the fine symbol stone ... A similar site is to be
seen on tho Erough of Doerncss (4)s it has not yet been excavated, but ths lay-
out of the visible remaing seens to be that of a Celtic monastic establishment

on which, ac at Blrsay, a later church has besn built.

+es 1t Day b9 noted here that theve is no evidence that the Plcts were a
vanlehing race and no evidence that they ae thelr churches were dostroysd ...
it 18 probable that churches and holy places also survived: the Papg names
ghow that the Scandinavianc recognised the haunts of priest and hammits; and
the cantinuity of Christian traditions at places like Birsay, eerness, Fapa
dostray and St Ninlan's Isle strongly suggosts that the Scandinavians did not

cbliterate tho sacred asscclatlons which had grown up around them,

196%, GRIATANCE SURVEY, HY 50 NE 14

Tha site is generally as described ,.., but only the grass=covered
footingo of 17 circular depressions could be found., The two olrcular huts
on the edgs of the west oliff and the wall arcund the church could not be traced.
Surveysd at 1/25000, F.l i, I, 20.8,64

1965 W DOUGLAS SIrPsad (1968, 109)

v+o L0 s8e the best pressrved example of a Celtio monastery in
Scotland we ~2st Journsy ... to the Orikneys, Hers, on ths storm=beaten
promontory known as the Brough of Desrness, towering to a hajght of a hundred
feat above the restlsss waves, survive the complets installations of & large

(4)  ROAMS xit, Mo 621,
2 Pp&
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nonestlc community, including & small okepel and the founationn of at loast

a score of huts, Lln appearanco otrikingly receabling thoss uncovered by
axcavation at tha Anglian monastery of Yhitby in Yorksahirs, There 1a also
a uill, or pornaps rather a clstern. The root of the proacatory, by which
alone can be approdched, ls protected by a strong cashel walli. No early
Chrietian site in all Scotland would bettear repay oxcavation than the Brough
of Inerness, A8 late as the seventeenth century, insgplte of all that
luritaniaa could do, the place continued to b & rceort of pllgrims, from
wvery lale of the Orkmeys. “"Barcfocoted, on hands and koees, thoy clinbed
wlth diffioulty to the top by a path that anly admitted ane at & time to
azcond, Onca at the top, with bent knees and hands clasped, they proceeded
three timea round the chapel appealing to the 'Bairnee of Brough',

and every now and then throwing stones and water behind their backs." (1)

195,  PI2 LINKLATER (1971, 105)

Cf ancient buildings in Ieerncss the moat famous - though little
now vemaing of 1t < was & chapol pot far from the ullt a place of
rilgrimage untll tho ond of the seventsenth century. A mysterious sixtesnth
century writer, known only as "Jo Den", says that in his time it was a famcus
resort for male pllpriag of all ages, who would walk barefoot round the
chapal, throwlng stonos and water hohind thon and uttering innvocatliona, In
thla curlous uxorcise there may be Christian symboliom, or tho degensrate

remory of eome oean ritual,

1964, HAPFOLD L FCOIEY, £=9
+eo GN o0s infertile headland called the 3rough of Iesrnass thare is the
site of an anclient Celtic mopantery. To approach this froa the landward

(1) J R Tudor, The Crimeve and Shetlapcg, p 278, Who were trs "Baims of

Brough, and what was the legend couneotsd with them, sesus to have besn
forgott
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side one doscends to the atony beach of & geo(l) and then climbs by a parrow
path up the side of the peniaasula called the Brough. The rulns of a small chapel
are vislble. Under the turf there iie the foundations of about sixteen
cactangular buildings, mostly the cells of the monks, It ie probable

that this conastery was founded as early as the elghth oentury; it may cven

‘ate {ron before 700,

A0, A GHARLLS THQAS (1971, He=s)
... promontory=forts (if on high coasts, usually cail:d ‘cliff-castles’)

. a0 otrongholds whore an effective defence can be made by cutting a bank
anid 2itch across the landward neck, and so obvlous and ecinomle a mode aof
fortification was wldely current in Atlantic Britain, and Ireland, throughout
the Ion Age., Tintagel ... 18 an excellent ropresentative of this olags ...
[n Horth Britain, Deerness in Orkney (the original name, and partron,
of which are not known)} may etca frow soventh = ¢r oighth - contury Irish
alssions in tho northern islow2)the vallun bank, aa at Iona, soows to have

an outer facing of stone,

1571, PATRICK DAILY, 65

Celtic Christlanity was an affair of monasteries which were used as basss
for svangelising the surrounding countrysids, of preaching places marked first
by crosses and later by tiny chapels, and of cells in remots places suitable for
solltary comtanplation, In Oriknay there are two sites with Celtic remains of
soas gubstance, located at the northewsstern and extreas easternm tips of
‘ainland,

The westerly site stands on the HArough of Birsay ...

(1) A narrow inlet on the bteach
(2) RCANS Orkpey and Chetland 1946, 11, 240, Fig 323

a: Fro
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The eantern site is on the Brough of Isernesa, a small and procipitous
Tragzent of the Desrness peninsula, from which it is separated by a narrow
chasm, Tho Brough le a remote place, made more 80 in recent times Ly
depopulaticn of the adjacent farms., Varicus walls are to be seen and tiw
ground le ¢ovicusly very full of fallen stone. There 1s a persistent
tradition that here once atood a Celtic Christlan monastery, but no systematlc
excavation has yet besn attempted.

A visit to eithar of these sites will convey soms impreszsion of the
reaoteness and seclusion favoured by the papge of the Celtio church, btut the
visitor should not be dlaappointsa to see almost nothing in the »ay of
tdontifiable remaing dating froa this sarly perlod.

1770-1, RONALD G CANT (1975,8 anp 16)
By the soventh century ... Christianity of a broadly ‘Celtic' fora
¢ xtonded over most of Scotland with active centres in both the northern

island groups. {15)

In accordance with the practics of thae Celtic churchses themss early
centreg of Christian activity in Shetland would conaist of a few saall
monasteries = groups of huts with an oratory or chapel enoiosed by a
protective wall « and a punber of igolated 'hermitages', with all of which
Christian burlalegrounds would coms to be assoclated, (16)

(15) The so=-called ‘'Celtio Church' was highly localised, on the basis of the
auintir or misslonary-sonastery, but its component elemsnts tended towards
a Pletlish, Joottish, or Northuabrian assoclation, varying with the relative
vitality of these pecples and the monasiic centres within theam, Aocordimg
to 0 Thomas ‘a Tgle, 32), 'Shetland in the eighth comiury was
locking to K , and beyond Plotland to Northumbria, for artisite,
and we may suppose ecslealastioal ideas’.

(i) A partioularly good Orcadlan exasple of a Celtic monastic ssttlemsnt may

hl&:o;nmtbthwothuuu (EEAMS, 11, Mo 621 and Northern Inley,
?
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1971, RFALNOND G LAMB (1973)

If there are any sxamples of guard chambers in the Horth thay should
take tho form of huts bahind the gates of the larger promontory forts, The
anly posslble example is at the Brough of Imernesss whore there 1s a vagus
horcashoo shaped foundatiocn (well apart froa ths moaastio buildings) just within
the wide and imprcesive gateway. There is as yet no proof that this gateway

and rampart are in fact Iron Age rather than [arly Christian, (p )

At the Brough of Doernaas however, and more a0 at Strandlibrough, there are
longhouses with orvas walls dividing them into two equzl or unoqual

compartneats, (p 146)

Brough of [wornoss also has coaplex and cross sall bulldings which

put 1t in tlo torse clasa, (p 165)

++. both the Fapa Stour oltes and the Brough of Iserness have algo simpler,
shorior bulldings which could be of the British class, but which might equally
wall be liorso since at Jarlshof suoh bulldings are found in association with
larger ones, There therefore ia the posalbility, whilch cannot be checked
rxcept by oxcavation, that theos buildings may represent a previous Early
Christian ocoupation of the sites, But whare ths simpler bulldings ocour
as the sole type, as they do on thes majority of sites, the inference is that these
settlomanta are Early Christlan and do not have Marss occupation.  (p 166)

+svs the only one to hawe becoap knowm as a Celtic monastery ia
Brough of Imerness (eg Radford 1962, 66; Thosas 1971, 34) and unfortunately
this ons ls less certainly Celtic than could be wished, The cross wall
buildings, nos 1 and 11 and the camplax one 8, are to be related to
Strandibrough and are most iliklsy Norse; and with thess Norse bulldings, there

is the possiblity that all the others are asecolated, and are also Norse, The
4t N0
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stone oratory in its reotangular enclacure is alao most likely of this later
period, To add to the confusion there is the decided posaibility of the even

varller occupation of ths headland as an Iron Age fort. (p 172)

Moustag ... may be a desert retrcat assoclated with the Brough of
rernocs, which very likely ham early Chrlatian as woll an Loroe

asccupation, (p 190)

The Brough of Drorness 1s a coaplex slte where many of the bulldings
rg 6,9,10,13,10 resoable those on Kame of Isbister or even Birrior of Weat
dandwicky but they occur *ogether with 1 and 11 with cross-walls, and the
conpiex &, which looka decldely YNorse. The chapel too probably i late, The
~=ctangular enclogure around i1t is o characteristic Norse feature; suah
snclosuren ave coazon in Greenland and Orinaey churchyards are rectangular to
this day ... The Brough o-atory as it is now sseas to be dry built, but
acording to Fadford (1562, 167) the atones had been set in clay mortar,
an’l pointed with lime., Clay mortar ocours in bulldings in Greenland where
mouggell (1941, 120) tel'leved it to be a feature distinotive of ths land,
and unknown in Oriney. In walls sxpossd to weathar, clay mortar very
qulckly cruzbles away, leaving the impression of a dry wall. Probably it
vas not all that ugoomaon ... The cement polnting on the omtory is no
longer viaible; it was probably a relic of latsr madieval repairs, the Brough
hav ing remained a place of pllgrimags long after the Reformation. (p 233+4).

Imernass is a difﬂcn.tlt. site swhere the oratory and soms or most of the

bulldings murely are Korse, but there is the stroag possibility of &
Celtic sonastery preceding. (p <38)
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GAZ'TYER, No 41, p 300~301., One musi rely heavily on Calder's Koyal
Comalssionplan for detalls of thie site, for since that plan was mads the
Brough has ceased to be grazed, and ia now coversd In walst high grass.

T™e oratory has evidently dsteriorated, ites walls, except for the north wall,
being nere heaps of rubble, and the rectangular enclosure around it being
quite invisiblle, The circular depressicns (exoept for the large one, which

18 a well) in the lower right of plan, are shell holes dating froa the first

WAT .

Hot shown on the plan of ths Royal Commtssion, although indicated on tiw
recent U 5 one, is the eatoway near the wesxt end of the wall which rure along
the landward end of the rock. The gateway 1s directly opposite the lopg spur
of cliff which runs out from the mainland towards the promontory baeing
separated therefrom by a narrow chasap this originally aust have been apanned
by & rock bridge. Imasdiately bahind the gataxay ls a feature recorded on tha

Foyal Commission plan as a horseshoe chape.

Both Jo Ben in 1Hth century and Low in 1774 record that the Brough was

a goal of pllgrimage long after the Feformation. Visited Juos 1971.

1973. CHARIES THGHAS, 9

The slaborate site on the EBrough of Birsay, and on the east ccast that
of the Brough of Desrness, appear to be mocnasteries. (1)

1973, CRIMANCE SURVEY, HY 50 & 14

The wall barring the approach averages J.5 m thick and say be earlier
than ths monastery (le ths cuter face well dosn the slope ie of typloal I A
architecture isdicating a defeasive strucutre rather than & “vallum soossteri).

(1) C A R Tadford pp 166-9 in Walmwright 1962.
2: nd



Ho lonner face ia evidant saad there is to0 much turf to conflira dodarsan's

observaticn of ®5* of earth backing thes cuter= face ™

ha chapel and monastic seitlenent vere matuly as descrided and planned

oy the = C A H i, but several other bulldings cen be ldsntifivd.

Tha plan of the enigmatic buliding in the S is not clear bal there
e indiceiions of other walls in Ita viclnity and it nay form part of &
Fatchouse ilzmedlately behind the entrance through the aain wall (nou

coilapsed and viaidble as a hollaow).

The two "huts* on the i cliff cowld et be lcomted. F.2. [OG5. 2TL1.5.73

1377, RAYHCNU G LAMB (107a, 775)

Mhis headland reaained a place of pilgrimage long after the
“eformaticat it has a stons chapel, and foundaticne of buildiogs magrided
to a Celtic acaaatery. The oratory ln its rectangular eadlosure 1s without
doubt Noroe, probadly of this same twelfth to thirtseath ceatury period. Of
the sare date surely are the longhouses with cross~wmlls, ad the reaaiming
rectangular tulldings sre nearly all longer than thooe of the pre-lorss sitss,
™e dlagvaa, Fig S (Appendix) in fact places Leerness squarely amcng the
Novsa monasteries, The mite prodably is complsxy there may well bave beea
“arly Christlan ocqupatica preceding the Horse, and the saasive *vallun
zonastertl® with 1to impressive gateuay (the last pot showa om the
Commismiom's plan) ia moet likely a relic of an Iron Age fart. Thw
clrcular depresslons om Lhe southesaxt aide (except for the large oma,
which surrounds a well or sump), loox suspiclously llie shell-holes = L
drough was usd for target prectice by the Navy durlag the first war. Thue
although “arly Christlam cocupation iw likely, thare is wothing at pressat
visible whlch is wol Wwliar axplaismed an olUar "yom ige, o~ latar mdiaswal,
Ol BOdATR, 2 : R4
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Avpendiis

The diagras (Fig 5) comparee the r»nge of sizes of butldings on those
sltes for which reasonably accurate measurezsnts are avallable ...

... tho table would ... origg out the esscntial distinction between the
Teltic and the liorse monzeterles, The earlier ones arc hased on the
~eoetition of a uniformly saslil building unit, The llorse onoe have a wider
~ange of building oizes and an emphasts at the largor end of the ecals,
cugresting a variety of specielised bulldings ... and eaphasiaing the

getilement 1tcelt an the asic unit,

L370, TAYLOND G LAMB, (1070h, 207 D 204)

The Brough of Biraay in faot is not urique. Thers is spother maies
nite in Urkney, the Brough of Ileermess, which duplicates three of Birsay'e
sszential Teatures - thie rocky islet situation, the chapel, and tne longhouses,
An equally large but much lesa well known site in Shetland, “trandibrough in
Fetlar, duplicates the oltuation and the longhouses, but “acks an obviocus church
(‘t io likely, however, that it had a timber ons), It i@ never easy to
compare an excavatod sits with a curface=-surveyed oy and in this case
our Judgemant has been clouded by the long-hold belief that lsernsrs was an
Farly Christian, that is a pre=liorue, ronastic settlemsnt. Fecert analysis,
however, has shown thet Deernecs differs significantly from Scellg !Mhichil and
from other Early Christian erenitic religious settlsments in Orkney and
Shetland) the struoture of the Tsurrss settlemsnt is Norss, and, slong with
Strandibrough and another Shetland site (Maiden Stack and Brei Holm),

Deerriasg ie propored as & Morse monastery (larb.1973, C8=3n),
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Of Horso-period religlous houses in Orimey, othsr than Birsay and
Learness, wo have significant indicatlons but fsw 40lid facts ... A feature

shared by the Broughs of Birsay and Deernsss was an endurlng pogte-
Feformation tradition of pllgrimage.

1974, LIOYD R LAING, 151-3, 161 AND 227

Yonasticlsn (FIG 01 Y

The form of eirly Ciz_stian conasteries was quite different fram the
complexes that are asgociuted with the term from acquaintence with medieval
atbeys. In the early Christlan period thers was no careful layout of
tulldings round & clolster, instead, a scatisr of tulldings within an

carthen rampart = the vallun monasteril = which, in contrast to the gravoyards

of the period, was usually rectangular or square, This copcept of &
rectangular enclosure was ncw to Britain, and originatsd in the Fast, whers the
earliest permanent monastic establichmsnts are to be found, These were usually
onclosed by a stone wall, often of consldersble height, as they frequently

had to serve, especially in the desert, as fortresses againat hostile tribes,
wnils in Britiin and Ireland there is mo known cass of an early Christian
wonsstery boing gayrisoned against attack, many sre sited within earlier frrts,
poseibly becauss the land on which they were bullt was a gift from a local
ohieftain, Islands too were popular, The monastic complex on Birsay in

Orkney and op Fapil in West Burrs in Ghetland are comparable exaaples, both
with reotilinsar snclosures.

Alongside the larre, rectilinear monastaries were mmaller foundations,
often, 1liks the graveyards, saolosed by circular or oval ypllgs A third class
was the saall eremitio acnastery locatad in remots places, Thess wiie ne more
than communal hermitages, vhare up te & dosen monks under the authority of an
sbbot lived in isolation, Whils the major monasteriss had in same cases esversl

" [Flg 50 \s drasn after the F O A H K B surveysplan,/
2 : Q3
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chapols, many living cells and workshops, the smaller ones might consiset

simply of a chapel with a few saall rectangular living cells or, very

occasionally, circular 'beehive' celie.

Sraller Monasteries, Apart frm Birsay and Fapil there are a nuaber of

smaller monamterica in the Northern Ieies., The most fanocus of these le the
Brough of Ioerness, on the east Mainland of Orkney (Pl Ila)., The acnantery
stands on an inacceseible hesdland., The complex 1s enclosed by a stons wall
on the south (landward) side, with the other sides decarcated by the steep
cliffs, ‘The site was much Adamagod durlng World '-’-a.rﬁ I, but +the complex
conslate of a rectangular oratory measuring inteyrmilly 17 £t by 9 3/4 £1, with
walls beddaed in olay, surroundsd by a complex of rectangular bulldings, the
larcest of whioh is about 40 ft by 27 ft cxternally. There arc also a fow
clrcular huts, It is reminiscent of Tintagecl, but is probably late., possaibly
veiongling to the elghth century,

Garc'fer

.o+ A footpath leads slong tho oiiff (where there is an amy rangs) past
the inpressive Gloup, The Drough of ™werness on which the site stands can be
approachsd by tho intrepid with a rock climd, the old land bridgs is not now
negotiable,

+ss A clasalo exaaple of an early Christian monastic community, now much
Aimturbed an a vezult of being used for target practice, Tha reraina coaprisa

a Aanll rectangular orat ry and a series of rectangular cclls oo a headland out
off by a stonee=bullt vallum,
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1975, LICYD LATG, €8
In Ouxney, tracos of the vallua of the ikportant momastery on the

Brouph of 3ivsmay along with asscolated buriale wore found on excavatian

rredating the later orss graveyard, while at Ieernecs in Orknoy, at
Slywcler, Yell, epnd Northoavine, Kame of Tsbister, there are good exanples of
small rronltic nopasteries on leolated stacks, once Jolned to the ralnland

by landi-bridges,

D276, UTIAN W MACKTS, 242

ere ie an Jayly Chrlctian nonastic site, at Ipormnsa™ at tho caot tip

of Crrney mainland .. The bulldingo otand on a ¢liff promontory up to

S0 orohigh, inown as the Brough of Leerncos, with only a narrow, stoep trmck
connecting 1t with tho land, Traccs of the stawefaced rampart which
defenqed “ho slte are apparonts noar thoe west end there i 4 2 m stretch which
st 11l etands 0,76 m high. 7Tho area enclossd by this rampart and the oliff

reasures soae 129 m northesouth by 73 a on average from east-west,

Ninetcon rvotangular buildi igs can be seen under ths turf grouped around
a ntono chapsl near Hw centre, Ihw ohapel has walls 1,2 m thiok which enolome
an arem 5,2 m by 3 moand chey have boen polnted with lime mortar, A savios of
~iroular hut foundations on the soutimcust part of tie site oay be older

than the =cnastio se. tlexent,

1t 13 posalble that the Brough of Deernecs is one of the foundations
eotablishwd by the 7themnd Bthecentury missions from the Irish Churoh to
Urinay, Thave is a farous pansage in the [[fntoris Norvegige which dasoribes
tha Orkneys ae haing originally inhabited by ‘Petl et Fapas', le Plotn and
monke (Irishe~Scottish pricwts)) it im further explainsd that ths Lattor were mo
ouwlled because t-h-ﬁl,yj wore white robes, This then was tho impresalon of the

{ndicates that the site is under tha guardianahip of the Departasnt of the
41 G&

tnvironment,
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_riney poople recelved by the firat Soandinavian vieitors in the &th century
and doubtless there were wnlte=robed 'Fupnse' at Deerness until they were driven

sut or destroyed hy the Scandipavians,

1775, IBAB-L HONLERSON, 12
In addition traces of monastic enolosures have been found @t Blraay and
‘warness in Uriaey, and at Applecross In Weoter fose and Abercorn, south of

‘ the rorth estuary,

| L7, GENDST W HANWICK, 148
] «vo thers in an old tiaditlon that the Brough of Dsernoas, a projucting
ciiff on which Celtic monko bullt & ohapel and Ronagtory, was onoe Joinad

to tha shove by a bridge of laai,

1776, TATHOND G LAYE, L4G=7 AND 149

+vo bulldings ... of the simpls, not over=long fora /axe/ .., asscoiated
with the early perlod of wonastic sottlement, Gome sinilarly-uited
settloments, such ao Jtrandibrough (Fetlar), !aiden Staok and Brei Holm
(rapa Stour) and the jroughs of Biroay and Lesimoss (Orkney) carry
longhouose=type bulldirgn of liores forw, ‘T essantisl mstructural difference
between the two types of settlement can be emphasised by plotting the floor
arvat of the bulldings on a graph., ‘ths sites with liorss longhouses are
{dentified as monastlo houses of the 12th or 13th centurles (larb 1973)¢ both
in their extravagant siting and in thair tenispcy to form pairs, they show an
intereating similarity to the earlier variety ... the ters 'oblong buildingo'
is reserved for thome of the sarllor typs, and the liorse sites will ba referred

to as 'longhouse=settlemunts',,,




Most emall stack-sites are lnaccessible and all that ie known ia that
thers werc atructures of sose kind upon them ... In Orkney there are three
Btack-6ltes on a short length of cliffecoast of Stronsay=-Taks Castle, Malms,
and Hrough of Burgh Head = and loust g in Deerncoss .., The importance of the
burrl Stacks of Culewick ia that they provide a olose assoolation between one of

those small stackesites and a wettlement of oblong bulldinga,

Stetlar pairinge between otacke-settlemonts ure observed in a surprieing
pumber o caseés ,,, [f77 2 longhouse asttlezent and a small stack (Brough of
worneng and Moustag) ..o The rolationship betwesn tho two sites in a pair i
of historical importance = are we dealing with contomporary ocoupationa of the

stacka, or with a sequence, when for sone reason the ocoupation ehifte from one

stacd to anothor?

I W lougles Hiapaon hao suesosted one possible relationanip that of a
Lirgo wonastory to @ amall hermitage used as s ccoasional retrvat by any monk who

wanted u Apull of solitary acditution ...

Siupoon wams using this suggestion Lo oxplaln the emigmatioc stiucture
o Clanacalr, & Ataol In tho bay & of “tonehavar, mul to relate this staok to
Lhe promontory atte of unnottar .., Ldn Uiruumi.:? it is poaslble to sec ane,
e popslbly two, sircular raised features, whioh might be vary large hut atyoles
or anall onolosures, Me otruoture on loustag (ICAIS L1946, 11, 243, no 628)

looks very nimilar,

lMoumtag 1ies ) mile O of Broughof L.owvnemnp 4t 1w an twolated rock in
tixe middle o~ & mmall olif{ bound bay, A long narrow ridge projeots into the
bay, Ut mtops short of the stacky it im not olear whather a ~ook~bridge
axinted at the time of occupation, The vidge im a promontory fort, ita land

end being alosad by & masnlve barrior, whioh prolably is & struoture of
4 1 Q7
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hloackhouse type, If thwe styucture on the stack is not related to the fort, 1t
may bo s dependent hermitage of Brough of Deevness, whioh 18 a longhouso=
nettlement, There ic a good poosibility of an eavller monastlo cocupation of
the Jrough, but all the bulldings now visible are readily asoribable to tho

iate Horee poriod,

The hiatorical gontoxt of the longhouserwottlements ocan hardly te other

than the 12th or 13th cepturles. 7Tnis late date lu firat of all suggested

. s PR R - _

iy by the comnplex plan of some of the bulldings on Strandibrough, Brough of
eurneas, and Brough of Blvraay; theso ccrrnlex bullding-plans vesenble the
asnantle butldings on Yynhallow and have good parallels among the lNoves

ir “acristeads tn Groonland,  he layout of the church and lraedlately asscolated

oulltines on the Srough of diveay has a welleknown paratlel in Gardar, the

cpimcopal neat of medimeval Greenland,




CHKNLY AMCHIVE LR1/7/4

Notes on Coins found at peemese ; comllled by krmest ¥ Marwick.

Noteas 197w,

Durine the year 1974 a native of Deemess - a very intellicent man
*¥ho wanted to remaln anconymoues - informed me that sarlisr that year ¢ half-
pennies had been found amone the rulna of the chapsl en the Broush of
seernasa,  He sald that theme doted from 1740 to 90, In addition, he sald,
two other halfpanndcn had been found, but tholr dates were indecirvherabls,
hes~ Zoln* had bern found by visltors from the parish of Cweime=e who had
dlelodied stones In the chapel walla, Ke further sald that ther~ wam an
old tradition in Teermeaa that there s an undsrwround parsava At the Bronwh.
Awakine of the chapel, he went on , "There ims good plamter on. *ha chanal
walls at on- commer", an! cave ma te undsratand that some part at lesast of
b walis had been bullt with mortar, Thie 1le intrresting in view of the
fchol«r Plerrichson that one of the msans by which Celtio Churchee 1in
utkiccy may be dlstinsulaned rrom Norwegian is thut the former are dry-bullrt,
the lattor with mortar,  anderson sald (quotad by Meon-v - | o A 5 IV, 26

L ine walle ot thy church at lime bullt”,

Notem 1970,

1 was informd by a [Leemess Informant cn 1l6th Januairy 1y76 that In
racont veare thetve had been varlous firderc of colne, 2nd that he knew
perronally of the rellowine finds
Findur no 1 (o colne) 1 Irish haltpenny 1751 = Joorae II.

1 Queen vVictoria halfpenny, 1860,
rinder nc . (4 coins? . colns worn. 1 unreadable,
1 Kinre Geor~e [1 174(7) halfpennv,
1 piinbursh trade token 178(T) - mquivalent of halfpenny.
1 Pureign coln. copper. unrecosmised,
(?) kink Guworae III halfpennies.
Findor no 7 & similar ocolns - .22 types, but examined by my inferwmant,

Apart from any of the colns noted, "other odd ocolins,™ ha saye,

"and 1 think alwavs halfpennies, have been found Trom time te time~, A« fur
as my Infermant has had personal knowledge of these finds he says the ooln
was Alvays sandvi.ned betwean two thin stones.

I eather from the minister of Desimess that no coln earlier tlan the

reign of Charles Il has been found. but this information ... iw suhjeat to
further cheoking.

)
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SULYEY 1977 DeSCHIFTICN OF THS SIThw

At the outset, 1t should bte »mapharlze! that a survey such as this can
only record clmar surfac: indications and cliff-edeer, whose recc.nitlon,
~ven mo, 18 not a wholly oblective exerclsn, Indsed, legltimate doubts
rlght be malssd over individual polinte of ~he aurvey, whoas resclut .on m'ght
enly b camable of veritication by excavation. At several polnts across the
sit=, 1t became ¢lear that there might well be other, sarlle:, features below
thoee recorded here; thie was miticularly true of the central area whare the
sh o had cropped the jrass much mote closaly than els-wh='e, Where, at other
polnts on the Brough, the vogetatlon was not ao cropped, 't was scaetimes
difficult to mak- out bullding=lin-e, or to record them accuately, and sarlier
fvatures, even 1f preeont, couid not be noted, It should also be borme in -
alnd that 1t 1s very ditflcult to indicate superimjosition, and imnomsible
to diaringuish difternt phameer whore there 1s not superimposition, A plan
such am that sremanted here (JTllua ) may, ther~fore, L¢ an amalgeam or

Ilmpest covering a conmidermble length of time,

un the landward =ide to the south, a bank or “breast-work'  as the toywl
Comalsslon demcriced it ia rlearly visible, stratching across the i’
wldth of the "irland” «nd broken only at or> point. It le here that the antrance

as me 1o have besny Dryden dld not plan 1t (Illue 5 ) and the Commlssion

(Illus ' ' could not dietinrul=h it, btut the Urdnances Jurvevers and Dr Lamb
(microfiche . FlO, 17 . did, and indesd remrants of walling to either side \
atill remain, T the weat of the entrance, which was at least U a

wide, the walling cculd be trmoed for a length of ¢ 10 m, while at the east,
althoush there wax little viailble wallinyt, the bank was found to extend for
approximately 60 a, with the i{ndication of a possible turm tewards the north.

Although the land-bridge has now collapsed, the stump of it leada direoctly te

this ooint,
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To the north of the bank and wall, in the south-east comer of the

Brough were mounds, of a bulldirz of a wins-glass shape in plan, and a

depression clese by, which may have been another structure. [he formelr 1s -
rrobably the Commirpion®s "incomplete bullding™ (Mo - en plan) which, thersfore,
arpip-ars to have had annexes to the noerth. L[amb mentloned the pessibllity

that it way e explained in terms -1 & “guard~chamber” behind the entrance

microfiche - ¥1.'1, and this was accepted by *he Urdnance survey in 1977

mizrofiche -0 Flu i, Am well as No 1, two structures appearing as low,

~TANS=CCoy=1od mounds in the south-western part of the site {(Nos 3 ani 4+)

were newly not=d in 1v77.

Uryden located 17 rectangular bulldinge in 1364, wuinly at the north
and weat o!f the church in addition to two at the sast and three at the south. ’
in 9% the soval Zommiselon ldentified 19, and noted that mome had cross~
wallm, wWlin the cropping of mome of the vegetatlon, it was possiblo in 1977
ta ldentify 30 pomsible tulldings, of which around seven appears! to ha-e

wie than one room.

Inelde the westermn cliff-asdge of the “isaland“, a serles of rectangular
buildings, thres of which appear to be divided by partitien walls ec te have
annexes (Moa 16, 21 and 22), were notable; weat were previcus.y recorded.
Althsugh rwo clroular denrssalens recerded by the (Cssalssien en the westem
cliff-edge did not appear to be visible, twe ether clrcular deprenaiesns have
been noted ewards the northern end of the sits (immediately merth of Bo 22),
slong with .tone-walling in a further depressien (te the vest of ¥o 10),
Aerial phetograr -, both vertical ..d oblique, \akem after the survey was
colpleted, sug<eat that tuildings may have existed aleag \he wheles wentam
edge (Illua 3 ad 7 ), aliheush with saps apparsat betvesa thea. This
croup of bulldines is alisned mainly in 4 reughly sasti=veat direatiea.

1.
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torhape the part of thls aite in which most chanwe in the plan is evident
1= in the norttiarm area. 1.2 now rectan.ular bulldinegs have beoome clear
{No= L1+, o, m, U7, 2, togsthar with some annexes to, or intermal divls=ions
of, two further bulldinsa (Ncs - and ), Tn overall terme, thie hans
produc:d a wmom orderd lasout than the esarlier plan, and th- aerlal photo-
Jaha emrpastes thlic roe., e moxlalty of bulldings one to another, on
~dther «ide or a lonk spac o, almoat auxgeats two rows of bulldinas along
a “strot" 1in o rominlscent of desertad mciiaeval villases. The contrast
2% arlentation betwen Noa 1., 1% and 19 and the rwat is strikine. The
ma ‘ozt o nutldliws cluscor An a oand nerth and nocth-eastward from the
chapole At the northn - nd 28 the wrouning, the bulldings ar- allined nerth-
woat 1o south--azt, while th bulldines at the southemm eond are allyn 4 north
ast toosouth=» o ls latter 0 up =x' ond—*! down ln front of the west
end T ot cned eurs, w1th 2 buildine of possainly tw o roomz (7/7A . The
a parent owoe tetw can the bulldines alone the w.at-ng cliff-cdze scom to o

torn  2us by the w1 :lal ~hotooraths,

Howave 1, the ar=a around the chapel dieplays l-ss order. ome
additions and modifloations o th: wyal Commiaslion plan have boen made
{for -xamole Mos A, 3, ya anmd 1', but the semeral impresslon in tnle
arsa 1 that, 1Y ther- is any pariicular order, 4t lles in the oxlstence
o! a dlecrete aroup of bulldings surrounding the snclomurs to worth, sast,
west and south, [wo small bulldiars were neted east of the enclosure, with
the depression of a possible third structure (10, 11, 12/, Thelr ohremelogloal
telationshl " to the ether aulldinge mentioncd abtove, canmot of course be
d+termin~d 1n & murvey, but it is A sajor poimt of iatereat fer amy faturs
werk here,

Houshly At the ceatre of the castern alde of the Jreugh llea the small

chatel vitnin 1 enclesure. The pev J B Craven, vhe visited (e

chanel befure 1901, sald of 1t that “It required a preat deal of falth
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to bellave that what lay before um was any mure than soms ahseD zhelters”
(mlcrofiche 0 U7, After hia visit, further ccllaps. of ‘he atructure
occurred when 1t was used as a practice tarcet (3eo above) Mia,
and o*her affacts, resultad in the cCorners of the bullding belns damaged,
and the walls coliapeinz both intemallv and extermally. fubble arread
into the encloaur- and was partially Jrassed over, aa wore the remains of

the apncloaure wall.

Immediatolv south 21 the eiclosure was a sunken arsa Close to a
ullding #lth an aparently curved no:th and east wall (¥, JA), near tns
ex'.-mlor mouth-—weat corner o the vard. [(his bulldin< mav have had a
second, wsteT room, with a "maaller intemal Fomturs In its soyth-sanat
comer (M. It . .v be that this was the structures which Ur 4adford
susrerted had beon sverlaln by the “reCtansula~ vart  (alcrofiche
T 5 0 In 1977, wlth onlv low Jrmas Cove'ing *he mounds in this area,
1t 41d not avpear as thoush the wall had ir fact cut the bulldina. A
slisht A~ 2xistad betwoan the two =~ DerhADS & RATION DABARZeNAY Lo tLha
small enclosurs entrmnee - and if anvthing, clearance of this area durins
axcavetion mlaht ~uscest thear= was no direct relationship between the

mulldinas and the exclosure wall {(Illus 95, Mcrefiche ' K%,

o the south of the chapel amd eaclosure, the pic.ure resains sssea‘iallv
ap before. e Cramiassien rcorded a lares devresalen or "oatoh-pite,
which {3 clearly a stane~lined well conwaimins water, Soattersd areund

the perth amd sast wloc 27 e W+l Are a nusber of Copressloms. 21 were

iden . if1ed Wy U Muyal Commisaiea i 1930, as ciroular muts, pessibly of

& primary ecowpatien sarlier U \he church (aloretions . 1 10-11).

I 1377 the iepressions were ideatified and adether savem wvery lemigd
areusd \he vell, partiwnlarly Ve the north., Odd depressiens ware alse
found sparesly spremd asress \he plateas, vith res elearly viaible at

- Lid




the north end of the vest ald= of the Brougn. The mala T7oud near th-
well, however, Lamb has suggested may be ahell craters frea target practice
during the war (mlcrofich: ° Fli-l4 and certaimly the dimensions of some
indicate that they may well be the result 57 ermatic Army tacrget-practice.
Althoush thay w-re examined clesely, none revealed clear evidence of stone
conatruction, »xcept foo the *w 1= which is zurreunded %y an outer
concsatric depreasalen. Dryden recordel mo clrcular depressicas i1n hls
i-acrintion, o2 inm hls olan of 1t (Illus - . In fact, he shows

a oaslc recransular ocutline Tepresenting a bullding close te the wall,

and S m from th- chapel. 1% may be tha a depresslca was taken to e

the remaln of 4 tallding trd stylised By the use of a alaple tectangle
on the plan, but Lryden did not indicate any other depresasioos. No

ectan,ular tailding war 1dentified in that ares in 1977,

An elonsm'ed mound contalning ubble is vislhle cClese %o the lnaar

“ace oy the bank, at the ~astem ond.  [his dess not appwdr to have Deen

rubblah trom ureiter' sxcawation, as most of the debris wes thiowm eve:
th ~Aff {microfichs © . 1 | although, a9 noted above, the Casissloa
arfearad te favour that sxplanation. squally the suggestion of & aowlter

se-mn inplausible as it is amorphour in form.




